Introduction to Non-Commutative Geometry

Nigel Higson, John Roe, Jonathan Rosenberg

Based on lectures from the Clay Mathematics Institute Instructional Symposium at Mt. Holyoke College, June, 2000 ii

Contents

I Basics of Non-Commutative Geometry Nigel Higson and John Roe 1					
II G J	Applications of Non-Commutative eometry to Topology onathan Rosenberg	3			
1	Group Von Neumann Algebras in Topology: L ² -cohomology, Novikov-Shubin invariants 1.1 Motivation 1.2 An Algebraic Set-Up 1.3 Calculations 1.4 Exercises	5 6 9 12			
2	Von Neumann Algebra Index Theorems: Atiyah's L ² -Index Theorem and Connes' Index Theorem for Foliations 2.1 Atiyah's L ² -Index Theorem	15 15 18 18 21 21 23			
3	 Group C*-Algebras, the Mishchenko-Fomenko Index Theorem, and Applications to Topology 3.1 The Mishchenko-Fomenko Index	25 25			

Contents

	3.2	Flat C^* -Algebra Bundles and the Assembly Map	26		
	3.3	Kasparov Theory and the Index Theorem	27		
	3.4	Applications	28		
	3.5	Exercises	31		
4	Other C^* -Algebras and Applications in Topology: Group Actions, Foliations, \mathbb{Z}/k -Indices, and Coarse Geometry				
	4.1	Crossed Products and Invariants of Group Actions	35		
	4.2	Foliation C^* -Algebras and Applications $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	37		
	4.3	C^* -Algebras and \mathbb{Z}/k -Index Theory	40		
	4.4	Roe C^* -Algebras and Coarse Geometry	44		
	4.5	Exercises	46		

iv

Part I

Basics of Non-Commutative Geometry

Nigel Higson and John Roe

Part II

Applications of Non-Commutative Geometry to Topology

Jonathan Rosenberg

Chapter 1

Group Von Neumann Algebras in Topology: L^2 -cohomology, Novikov-Shubin invariants

1.1 Motivation

The idea of this part of the book is to explain how non-commutative geometry, as developed in Part I, can be applied to problems in geometry and topology (in the more usual sense of those words). In this chapter, we begin by applying the first major new idea to emerge out of non-commutative geometry, namely, the concept of *continuous dimension* as developed by Murray and von Neumann.

This concept starts to come into play when we compare the spectral decomposition of the Laplacian (or more exactly, the Laplace-Beltrami operator of Riemannian geometry) in the two cases of a compact (Riemannian) manifold and a complete non-compact manifold. The comparison can be seen in the following table:

Compact	Non-compact
manifolds	manifolds
Discrete spectrum	Continuous spectrum
Finite-dimensional	Infinite-dimensional
kernel	kernel

Table 1.1: Spectrum of the Laplacian

So on a non-compact manifold, the dimension of the kernel of the Laplacian is not usually very interesting (it's often ∞) and knowing the eigenvalues of the

Laplacian usually does not yield much information about the operator. (For example, there may be no point spectrum at all, yet the spectral decomposition of the operator may be very rich.) In the special case where the non-compact manifold is a normal covering of a compact manifold with covering group π , we will get around these difficulties by using the group von Neumann algebra of π to measure the "size" of the infinite-dimensional kernel and the "thickness" of the continuous spectrum near 0.

1.2 An Algebraic Set-Up

Here we follow the ideas of Michael Farber [23], as further elaborated by him (in [25], [24], and [26]) and by Wolfgang Lück ([56], [56], and [57]). Let π be a discrete group. It acts on both the right and left on $L^2(\pi)$. The von Neumann algebras $\lambda(\pi)''$ and $\rho(\pi)''$ generated by the left and by the right regular representations λ and ρ are isomorphic, and $\rho(\pi)'' = \lambda(\pi)'$. These von Neumann algebras are *finite*, with a canonical (faithful finite normal) trace τ defined by

$$\tau(\lambda(g)) = \begin{cases} 1, & g = 1\\ 0, & g \neq 1, \end{cases}$$

and similarly for ρ . Call a finite direct sum of copies of $L^2(\pi)$, with its left action of π , a finitely generated free Hilbert π -module, and the cut-down of such a module by a projection in the commutant $\lambda(\pi)' = \rho(\pi)''$ a finitely generated projective Hilbert π -module. (We keep track of the topology but forget the inner product.)

The finitely generated projective Hilbert π -modules form an additive category $\mathcal{H}(\pi)$. The morphisms are continuous linear maps commuting with the π -action. Each object A in this category has a dimension dim_{τ}(A) $\in [0, \infty)$, via

$$\dim_{\tau} n \cdot L^2(\pi) = n, \quad \dim_{\tau} e L^2(\pi) = \tau(e),$$

for each projection e in $\rho(\pi)''$ (or more generally in $M_n(\rho(\pi)'')$, to which we extend the trace the usual way, with $\tau(1_n) = n$, 1_n the identity matrix in $M_n(\rho(\pi)'')$). When π is an *ICC* (infinite conjugacy class) group, $\rho(\pi)''$ is a factor, hence a projection $e \in M_n(\rho(\pi)'')$ is determined up to unitary equivalence by its trace, and objects of $\mathcal{H}(\pi)$ are determined by their dimensions.

The category $\mathcal{H}(\pi)$ is not abelian, since a morphism need not have closed range, and thus there is no good notion of cokernel. It turns out, however, that there is a natural way to complete it to get an *abelian* category $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$. The finitely generated projective Hilbert π -modules are the projectives in $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$. Each element of the larger category is a direct sum of a projective and a torsion element (representing infinitesimal spectrum near 0). A torsion element is an equivalence class of pairs (A, α) , where A is a projective Hilbert π -module and $\alpha = \alpha^* \colon A \to A$ is a positive π -module endomorphism of A (in other words, a positive element of the commutant of the π -action) with ker $\alpha = 0$. (Note that this implies α has dense range, but not that it has a bounded inverse.) Two such pairs (A, α) , (A', α') , are identified if we can write

$$(A,\alpha) \cong (A_1,\alpha_1) \oplus (A_2,\alpha_2), \quad (A',\alpha') \cong (A'_1,\alpha'_1) \oplus (A'_2,\alpha'_2),$$

with α_2 and α'_2 invertible and with $(A_1, \alpha_1) \cong (A'_1, \alpha'_1)$, in the sense that there is commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} A_1 & \xrightarrow{\beta} & A'_1 \\ \downarrow^{\alpha} & & \downarrow^{\alpha'} \\ A_1 & \xrightarrow{\beta} & A'_1. \end{array}$$

Thus we can always "chop off" the part of α corresponding to the spectral projection for $[\varepsilon, \infty)$ ($\varepsilon > 0$) without changing the equivalence class of the object, and only the "infinitesimal spectrum near 0" really counts. The dimension function dim_{τ} extends to a map, additive on short exact sequences, from objects of $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$ to $[0, \infty)$, under which torsion objects go to 0.

To phrase things another way, the idea behind the construction of $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$ is that we want to be able to study indices of elliptic operators $D: A \to B$, where A and B are Hilbert π -modules and D commutes with the π -action. By usual tricks, we can assume D is a bounded operator. In the case of a compact manifold (with no π around), A and B would then be Hilbert spaces, D would be Fredholm, and the index would be defined as $\operatorname{Ind} D = \dim \ker D - \dim \operatorname{coker} D$. But in the case of a non-compact manifold, we run into the problem that Dusually does not have closed range. However, if we fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and let e, f be the spectral projections for $[\varepsilon, \infty)$ for D^*D and DD^* , respectively, then the restriction of D to eA maps this projective π -module isomorphically onto fB, and $D: (1-e)A \to (1-f)B$ represents a formal difference of torsion elements $((1-e)A, D^*D)$ and $((1-f)B, DD^*)$ of $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$ when we pass to the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

The most interesting invariant of a torsion element \mathcal{X} represented by $\alpha = \alpha^* \colon A \to A$ is the rate at which

$$F_{\alpha}(t) = \dim_{\tau}(E_t A), \quad E_t = \text{spectral projection for } \alpha \text{ for } [0, t),$$

approaches 0 as $t \to 0$. Of course we need to find a way to study this that is invariant under the equivalence relation above, but it turns out (see Exercise 1.4.1) that F_{α} is well-defined modulo the equivalence relation

$$F \sim G \Leftrightarrow \exists C, \varepsilon > 0, \ G\left(\frac{t}{C}\right) \le F(t) \le G(tC), \ t < \varepsilon.$$

The Novikov-Shubin capacity of \mathcal{X} is defined to be

$$c(\mathcal{X}) = \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t}{\log F_{\alpha}(t)}.$$

Note that this is well-defined modulo the equivalence relation above, since if $G\left(\frac{t}{C}\right) \leq F(t) \leq G(tC)$ for t sufficiently small, then

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t}{\log G(t)} &= \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t - C}{\log G(t)} = \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log(tC/C)}{\log G(tC)} \\ &= \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t}{\log G(tC)} \leq \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t}{\log F(t)} \\ &\leq \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t}{\log G\left(\frac{t}{C}\right)} \\ &= \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log(tC/C)}{\log G\left(\frac{t}{C}\right)} \\ &= \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t + C}{\log G(t)} = \limsup_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log t}{\log G(t)}. \end{split}$$

The Novikov-Shubin capacity satisfies

$$c(\mathcal{X}_1 \oplus \mathcal{X}_2) = \max(c(\mathcal{X}_1), c(\mathcal{X}_2))$$

and for exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{X}_1 \to \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}_2 \to 0,$$

$$\max(c(\mathcal{X}_1), c(\mathcal{X}_2)) \le c(\mathcal{X}) \le c(\mathcal{X}_1) + c(\mathcal{X}_2).$$

Many people work instead with the inverse invariant

$$\liminf_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\log F_{\alpha}(t)}{\log t}$$

called the *Novikov-Shubin invariant* or *Novikov-Shubin number*, but the advantage of the capacity is that "larger" torsion modules have larger capacities. If the Novikov-Shubin invariant is $\gamma > 0$, that roughly means that $\dim_{\tau}(E_t A) \approx t^{\gamma}$.

Now consider a connected CW complex X with fundamental group π and only finitely many cells in each dimension. The cellular chain complex $C_{\bullet}(\widetilde{X})$ of the universal cover \widetilde{X} (with complex coefficients) is a chain complex of finitely generated free (left) $\mathbb{C}[\pi]$ -modules. We can complete to $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C_{\bullet}(\widetilde{X})$, a chain complex in $\mathcal{H}(\pi) \subseteq \mathcal{E}(\pi)$, and get homology, cohomology groups

$$\mathcal{H}_i(X, L^2(\pi)) \in \mathcal{E}(\pi), \quad \mathcal{H}^i(X, L^2(\pi)) \in \mathcal{E}(\pi),$$

called (extended) L^2 -homology and cohomology, which are homotopy invariants of X. The numbers $\beta_i(X, L^2(\pi)) =$

$$\dim_{\tau}(\mathcal{H}_i(X), L^2(\pi)) = \dim_{\tau}(\mathcal{H}^i(X), L^2(\pi))$$

are called the (reduced) L^2 -Betti numbers of X. Similarly one has Novikov-Shubin invariants (first introduced in [65], but analytically, using the Laplacian) defined from the spectral density of the torsion parts (though by the UCT, the torsion part of $\mathcal{H}^i(X, L^2(\pi))$ corresponds to the torsion part of $\mathcal{H}_{i-1}(X, L^2(\pi))$, so that there is some confusion in the literature about indexing). 1.3. Calculations

1.3 Calculations

Theorem 1.3.1 Suppose M is a compact connected smooth manifold with fundamental group π . Fix a Riemannian metric on M and lift it to the universal cover \widetilde{M} . Then the L^2 -Betti numbers of M as defined above agree with the τ -dimensions of

$$\left(L^2 \text{ closed } i\text{-forms on } \widetilde{M}\right)/\overline{d}\left(L^2 (i-1)\text{-forms on } \widetilde{M}\right) \cap \left(L^2 i\text{-forms}\right)$$

Similarly the Novikov-Shubin invariants can be computed from the spectral density of Δ on \widetilde{M} (as measured using τ).

Sketch of Proof. This is a kind of a de Rham theorem. There are two published proofs, one by Farber ([25], §7) and one by Shubin [90]. Let $\Omega^{\bullet}(M)$ be the de Rham complex of differential forms on M. Then a fancy form of the usual de Rham theorem says that the complexes $\Omega^{\bullet}(M)$ and $C^{\bullet}(M)$ (the latter being the cellular cochains with coefficients in \mathbb{C} for some cellular decomposition) are chain homotopy equivalent. The same is therefore true for the complexes $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} \Omega^{\bullet}(M)$ and $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C^{\bullet}(M)$. Unfortunately the first of these is a complex of Fréchet spaces, not of Hilbert π -modules, so Farber's theory doesn't directly apply to it. However, there is a trick: we can also consider the complex $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\text{Sobolev}}(\widetilde{M})$ of forms on \widetilde{M} values in Sobolev spaces. More precisely, fix $m \geq n = \dim M$ and consider the complex

$$\Omega^{\bullet}_{\text{Sobolev}}(\widetilde{M}) \colon \Omega^{0}_{(m)}(\widetilde{M}) \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^{1}_{(m-1)}(\widetilde{M}) \xrightarrow{d} \cdots \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^{j}_{(m-j)}(\widetilde{M}) \xrightarrow{d} \cdots,$$

where $\Omega^{j}_{(m-j)}(\widetilde{M})$ consists of *j*-forms with distributional derivatives up to order m-j in L^2 (with respect to the Riemannian metric on M). Then the spaces in this complex are all Hilbert spaces on which π acts by a(n infinite) multiple of the left regular representation, and the differentials are all bounded operators commuting with the action of π (since we lose one derivative with each application of d). An extension of Farber's original construction shows that the spaces in such a complex can also be viewed as sitting in an "extended" abelian category (in effect one just needs to drop the finite generation condition in the definition of $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$). Then one shows that the dense inclusion $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} \Omega^{\bullet}(M) \hookrightarrow \Omega^{\bullet}_{\text{Sobolev}}(M)$ is a chain homotopy equivalence. (The proof depends on elliptic regularity; the spectral decomposition of the Laplacian can be used to construct the inverse chain map $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\text{Sobolev}}(M) \to L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} \Omega^{\bullet}(M)$ that "smooths out" Sobolev-spacevalued forms to smooth ones.) Putting everything together, we then have a chain homotopy equivalence $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C^{\bullet}(M) \to \Omega^{\bullet}_{\text{Sobolev}}(M)$ in a suitable extended abelian category, and thus the cohomology (with values in this extended category) of the two complexes is the same. Since the L^2 -Betti numbers and Novikov-Shubin invariants are obtained by looking at the projective and torsion parts of the extended cohomology, the theorem follows. \Box

Example 1.3.2 Let $M = S^1$ and $\pi = \mathbb{Z}$, so $\mathbb{C}[\pi] = \mathbb{C}[T, T^{-1}]$. Then $L^2(\pi)$ is identified via Fourier series with $L^2(S^1)$, and the group von Neumann algebra with $L^{\infty}(S^1)$, which acts on $L^2(S^1)$ by pointwise multiplication. The trace τ is then identified with the linear functional $f \mapsto \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(e^{i\theta}) d\theta$. Take the usual cell decomposition of S^1 with one 0-cell and one 1-cell. Then the chain complexes of the universal cover become:

$$C_{\bullet}(\widetilde{M}) \colon \mathbb{C}[T, T^{-1}] \xrightarrow{T-1} \mathbb{C}[T, T^{-1}]$$
$$C_{\bullet}(\widetilde{M}, L^{2}(\pi)) \colon L^{2}(S^{1}) \xrightarrow{e^{i\theta} - 1} L^{2}(S^{1}).$$

So the L^2 -Betti numbers are both zero, but the Novikov-Shubin invariants are non-trivial (in fact equal to 1), corresponding to the fact that if

$$\alpha = |e^{i\theta} - 1| \colon L^2(S^1) \to L^2(S^1),$$

then $F_{\alpha}(t) \approx \text{const} \cdot t$ for t small.

Generalizing one aspect of this is:

Theorem 1.3.3 (Cheeger-Gromov [13]) If X is an aspherical CW complex (*i.e.*, $\pi_i(X) = 0$ for $i \neq 1$) with only finitely many cells of each dimension, and if $\pi = \pi_1(X)$ is amenable and infinite, then all L²-Betti numbers of X vanish.

There is a nice treatment of this theorem in [21], §4.3. The reader not familiar with amenable groups can consult [34] or [67] for the various forms of the definition, but one should know at least that finite groups and solvable groups are amenable and free groups on two or more generators (or any groups containing such a free group) are not. It is not known then (at least to the author) if for an aspherical CW complex with infinite amenable fundamental group, one of the Novikov-Shubin capacities is always positive. However, this is true in many cases for which one can do direct calculations, such as nilmanifolds modeled on stratified nilpotent Lie groups [85].

As we will see, amenability is definitely relevant here; for non-amenable groups, the L^2 -Betti numbers can be non-zero.

Example 1.3.4 Let M be a compact Riemann surface of genus $g \geq 2$, \widetilde{M} the hyperbolic plane, π a discrete torsion-free cocompact subgroup of $G = PSL(2,\mathbb{R})$. In this case, it's easiest to use the analytic picture, since $L^2(\widetilde{M}) \cong L^2(G/K)$, $K = SO(2)/\{\pm 1\}$. As a representation space of G, this is a direct integral of the principal series representations, and Δ corresponds to the Casimir operator, which has spectrum bounded away from 0. So $\beta_0 = 0$, and also $\beta_2 = 0$ by Poincaré duality.

Let \mathfrak{g} and \mathfrak{k} be the Lie algebras of G and K, respectively. Then the tangent bundle of G/K is the homogeneous vector bundle induced from the representation space $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{k}$ of K, and the cotangent bundle is similarly induced from $(\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{k})^*$. Thus the L^2 sections of $\Omega^1(\widetilde{M})$ may be identified with unitarily induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_K^G(\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{k})^*$, which contains, in addition to the continuous spectrum,

1.3. Calculations

two discrete series representations with Casimir eigenvalue 0. Thus $\beta_1 \neq 0$. The Atiyah L^2 -index theorem (to be discussed in the next chapter) implies $\beta_1 = 2(g-1)$. There are no additional Novikov-Shubin invariants, since these measure the non-zero spectrum of Δ close to 0, but the continuous spectrum of Δ is bounded away from 0.

One can also do the calculation of β_1 combinatorially. As is well known, one can construct M by making suitable identifications along the boundary of a 2g-gon. (See Figure 1.1.) This construction gives a cell decomposition of Mwith one 0-cell, one 2-cell, and 2g 1-cells. Hence we can take $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C^{\bullet}(M)$ to be a complex of free Hilbert π -modules of dimensions 1, 2g, and 1. Since the extended L^2 -cohomology vanishes in degrees 0 and 2, it then follows (by the Euler-Poincaré principle in the category $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$) that $\mathcal{H}^1(X, L^2(\pi))$ must be free, of dimension 2g - 2.



Figure 1.1: Identifications to form a closed surface (the case q = 2)

The vanishing of β_0 in Example 1.3.4 is not an accident. In fact, Brooks ([6] and [7]) proved the following:

Theorem 1.3.5 (Brooks [6]) Let M be a compact Riemannian manifold with fundamental group π . Then 0 lies in the spectrum of the Laplacian on the universal cover \widetilde{M} of M if and only if π is amenable.

Note that this implies (if π is non-amenable) that $\beta_0(M)$ and the Novikov-Shubin capacity in dimension 0 must be 0, and in fact via Theorem 1.3.1, the de Rham theorem for extended cohomology, that the extended cohomology group $\mathcal{H}^0(M, L^2(\pi))$ must vanish in $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$.

Generalizing one aspect of Example 1.3.4 is the following result, confirming a conjecture of Singer:

Theorem 1.3.6 (Jost-Zuo [42] and Cao-Xavier [12]) If M is a compact connected Kähler manifold of non-positive sectional curvature and complex dimension n, then all L^2 -Betti numbers of M vanish, except perhaps for β_n .

As we will see in Exercise 1.4.4 or via the Atiyah $L^2\mbox{-index}$ theorem of the next chapter, this implies that

$$\beta_n = (-1)^n \chi(M),$$

where χ is the usual Euler characteristic.

Note. One should not be misled by these examples into thinking that the L^2 -Betti numbers are always integers, or that most of them usually vanish. However, the *Atiyah Conjecture* asserts that they are always rational numbers. If true, this would have important implications, such as the *Zero Divisor Conjecture* that $\mathbb{Q}[G]$ has no zero divisors when G is a torsion-free group [21]. For more details on this and related matters, the reader is referred to the excellent surveys by Lück: [58] and [59].

1.4 Exercises

Exercise 1.4.1 Fill in one of the details above by showing that if $\alpha = \alpha^* \colon A \to A$ and $\beta = \beta^* \colon B \to B$ represent the same torsion element \mathcal{X} of the category $\mathcal{E}(\pi)$, and if $F_{\alpha}(t)$ and $G_{\beta}(t)$ are the associated spectral growth functions, defined by applying τ to the spectral projections of α (resp., β) for [0, t), then there exist $C, \varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$G_{\beta}\left(\frac{t}{C}\right) \leq F_{\alpha}(t) \leq G_{\beta}(tC), \ t < \varepsilon.$$

Exercise 1.4.2 Use Example 1.3.2 to show that the 0-th Novikov-Shubin invariant of the *n*-torus $T^n = (S^1)^n$ is equal to *n*. (In fact this is true for all the other Novikov-Shubin invariants also, since the Laplacian on *p*-forms simply looks like a direct sum of $\binom{n}{p}$ copies of the Laplacian on functions.)

Exercise 1.4.3 Let X be a wedge of $n \ge 2$ circles, which has fundamental group $\pi = F_n$, a free group on n generators. This space has a cell decomposition with one 0-cell and n 1-cells. Compute the L^2 -Betti numbers of X directly from the chain complex $L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C^{\bullet}(\tilde{X})$.

Exercise 1.4.4 Let X be a finite CW complex with fundamental group π . Use the additivity of dim_{τ} and the Euler-Poincaré principle to show that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\dim X} (-1)^i \beta_i(X, L^2(\pi)) = \chi(X),$$

the ordinary Euler characteristic of X.

Exercise 1.4.5 Prove the combinatorial analogue of Brooks' Theorem (1.3.5) as follows. Let X be a finite connected CW complex with fundamental group π Show that $\mathcal{H}^0(X, L^2(\pi)) = 0$ if and only if π is non-amenable, following this outline. Without loss of generality, one may assume X has exactly one 0-cell, and has 1-cells indexed by a finite generating set g_1, \ldots, g_n for π . First show that $d^*d: L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C^0(\pi) \to L^2(\pi) \otimes_{\pi} C^0(\pi)$ can be identified with right multiplication by $\Delta = (g_1 - 1)^*(g_1 - 1) + \cdots + (g_n - 1)^*(g_n - 1)$ on $L^2(\pi)$. So the problem is to determine when 0 is in the spectrum of Δ . This happens if and only if for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a unit vector ξ in $L^2(\pi)$ such that $\|\rho(g_i)\xi - \xi\| < \varepsilon$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, where ρ denotes the right regular representation. But this means

1.4. Exercises

that the trivial representation is weakly contained in ρ , which is equivalent to amenability of π by Hulanciki's Theorem (see [34], Theorem 3.5.2, or [67], Theorem 4.21).

As pointed out to me by my colleague Jim Schafer, this combinatorial version of Brooks' Theorem is essentially equivalent to a classic theorem of Kesten on random walks on discrete groups [52].

Exercise 1.4.6 Deduce from the Cheeger-Gromov Theorem and Exercise 1.4.4 that if X is a finite aspherical CW complex with nontrivial amenable fundamental group, then $\chi(X) = 0$. See [81] and [86] for the history of results like this one.

Chapter 2

Von Neumann Algebra Index Theorems: Atiyah's L^2 -Index Theorem and Connes' Index Theorem for Foliations

2.1 Atiyah's L²-Index Theorem

As we saw in the last chapter, it is not always so easy to compute all of the L^2 -Betti numbers of a space directly from the definition, though sometimes we can compute *some* of them. It would be nice to have constraints from which we could then determine the others. Such a constraint, and more, is provided by the following index theorem. The context, as with many index theorems, is that of linear elliptic pseudodifferential operators. The reader who doesn't know what these are exactly can think of the differential operator $d + d^*$ on a Riemannian manifold, or of the operator $\overline{\partial} + \overline{\partial}^*$ on a Kähler manifold. These special cases are fairly typical of the sorts of operators to which the theorem can be applied.

Theorem 2.1.1 (Atiyah [1]) Suppose

 $D: C^{\infty}(M, E_0) \to C^{\infty}(M, E_1)$

is an elliptic pseudodifferential operator (we'll abbreviate this phrase hereafter as ψ DO), acting between sections of two vector bundles E_0 and E_1 over a closed manifold M, and \widetilde{M} is a normal covering of M with covering group π . Let

$$\widetilde{D}: C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{E}_0) \to C^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{E}_1)$$

be the lift of D to \widetilde{M} . Then ker \widetilde{D} and ker \widetilde{D}^* have finite τ -dimension, and

Ind
$$D(= \dim \ker D - \dim \ker D^*)$$

= L^2 - Ind $\widetilde{D}(= \dim_\tau \ker \widetilde{D} - \dim_\tau \ker \widetilde{D}^*)$.

Sketch of Proof. For simplicity take D to be a first-order differential operator, and consider the formally self-adjoint operator

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D^* \\ D & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

acting on sections of $E = E_0 \oplus E_1$. Since *D* is elliptic, PDE theory shows that the solution of the "heat equation" for *P*, $H_t = \exp(-tP^2)$, is a *smoothing operator*, an integral operator with smooth kernel, for t > 0. And as $t \to \infty$, $H_t \to \text{projection on ker } D \oplus \text{ker } D^*$, so that if

$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{on } E_0\\ -1 & \text{on } E_1, \end{cases}$$

then γ commutes with H_t and $\operatorname{Ind} D = \lim_{t \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}(\gamma H_t)$.

Define similarly

$$\widetilde{P} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \widetilde{D}^* \\ \widetilde{D} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \widetilde{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \widetilde{H} = e^{-t\widetilde{P}^2},$$

acting on sections of $\widetilde{E} = \widetilde{E}_0 \oplus \widetilde{E}_1$. Then L^2 - Ind $\widetilde{D} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \tau \left(\widetilde{\gamma} \widetilde{H}_t \right)$.

Here we extend τ to matrices over the group von Neumann algebra in the obvious way. So we just need to show that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\gamma H_{t}\right) = \tau\left(\widetilde{\gamma}\widetilde{H}_{t}\right). \tag{2.1}$$

Now in fact both sides of (2.1) are constant in t, since, for instance,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\gamma H_{t}\right) = \frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\gamma e^{-tP^{2}}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\frac{d}{dt}\left(\gamma e^{-tP^{2}}\right) =$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{d}{dt}e^{-tD^{*}D} - \frac{d}{dt}e^{-tDD^{*}}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(DD^{*}e^{-tDD^{*}} - D^{*}De^{-tD^{*}D}\right).$$

But

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(DD^{*}e^{-tDD^{*}}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\overbrace{e^{-tDD^{*}/2}D}\overset{\bullet}{D^{*}e^{-tDD^{*}/2}}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(D^{*}e^{-tDD^{*}/2}e^{-tDD^{*}/2}D\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(D^{*}e^{-tDD^{*}}D\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(D^{*}\left(1-tDD^{*}+\cdots\right)D\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(D^{*}D\left(1-tD^{*}D+\cdots\right)\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(D^{*}De^{-tD^{*}D}\right).$$

So it's enough to show that

$$\lim_{t \to 0^+} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left(\gamma H_t \right) - \tau \left(\widetilde{\gamma} \widetilde{H}_t \right) \right) = 0.$$

But for small t, the solution of the heat equation is almost local. (See [74] for further explanation.) In other words, H_t and \tilde{H}_t are given by integration against smooth kernels almost concentrated on the diagonal, and the kernel \tilde{k} for \tilde{H}_t is practically the lift of the kernel k for H_t , since, locally, M and \tilde{M} look the same. But for a π -invariant operator \tilde{S} on \tilde{E} , obtained by lifting the kernel function k for a smoothing operator on M to a kernel function to \tilde{k} , one can check that

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\widetilde{S}) &= \int_{F} \widetilde{k}(\widetilde{x},\widetilde{x}) \, d \operatorname{vol}(\widetilde{x}) \\ &= \int_{M} k(x,x) \, d \operatorname{vol}(x) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr}(S), \end{aligned}$$

F a fundamental domain for the action of π on \widetilde{M} . So that does it. \Box

For applications to L^2 -Betti numbers, we can fix a Riemannian metric on M and take $E_0 = \bigoplus \Omega^{2i}$, $E_1 = \bigoplus \Omega^{2i+1}$, D the "Euler characteristic operator" $D = d + d^*$, so Ind $D = \chi(M)$ by the Hodge Theorem, while L^2 -Ind \widetilde{D} is the alternating sum of the L^2 -Betti numbers, $\sum (-1)^i \beta_i$. Thus we obtain an analytic proof of the equality $\sum (-1)^i \beta_i = \chi(M)$, for which a combinatorial proof was given in Exercise 1.4.4.

Another application comes from taking M closed, connected, and oriented, of dimension 4k. Then harmonic forms in the middle degree 2k can be split into ± 1 eigenspaces for the Hodge *-operator, and so the middle Betti number b_{2k} splits as $b_{2k}^+ + b_{2k}^-$. The signature of M can be defined to be the difference $b_{2k}^+ - b_{2k}^-$. This can be identified with the signature of the intersection pairing

$$\langle x, y \rangle = \langle x \cup y, [M] \rangle$$

on $H^{2k}(M, \mathbb{R})$, since if we represent cohomology classes x and y by closed forms φ and ψ , then $\langle x, y \rangle = \int_M \varphi \wedge \psi$, while $\int_M \varphi \wedge *\psi$ is the L^2 inner product of φ and ψ , so that the intersection pairing is positive definite on the +1 eigenspace of * and negative definite on the -1 eigenspace of *.

Now as observed by Atiyah and Singer, the signature can also be computed as the index of the elliptic differential operator $D = d + d^*$ sending E_0 to E_1 , where $E_0 \oplus E_1$ is a splitting of the complex differential forms defined using the Hodge *-operator as well as the grading by degree. More precisely, E_0 and E_1 are the ± 1 eigenspaces of the involution τ sending a complex-valued *p*-form ω to $i^{p(p-1)+2k} * \omega$. This formula is concocted so that the contributions of *p*forms and (4k - p)-forms will cancel out as long as $p \neq 2k$, and so that $\tau = *$ on forms of middle degree. If we apply Theorem 2.1.1 to this *D*, we see that $\beta_{2k}^+ - \beta_{2k}^- = b_{2k}^+ - b_{2k}^-$, with the splitting of β_{2k} into ± 1 eigenspaces of * defined similarly. (Once again, the contributions from forms of other degree cancel out.)

Example 2.1.2 Let M be a compact quotient of the unit ball \widetilde{M} in \mathbb{C}^2 . Then \widetilde{M} can be identified with the homogeneous space G/K, where G = SU(2, 1) and K is its maximal compact subgroup U(2). The signature of M must be nonzero by the "Hirzebruch proportionality principle,"¹ since G/K is the noncompact dual of the compact symmetric space \mathbb{CP}^2 , which has signature 1. Hence the L^2 -Betti number β_2 of M must be non-zero by the identity $\beta_2^+ - \beta_2^- = \operatorname{sign} M$. In this case, we have $\beta_0 = \beta_4 = 0$ by Brooks' Theorem (Theorem 1.3.5 and Exercise 1.4.5) and Poincaré duality, since the fundamental group of M is a lattice in G and is thus non-amenable. And in addition, $\beta_1 = \beta_3 = 0$ by Theorem 1.3.6, so as pointed out before, one has $\beta_2 = \chi(M)$. Together with the identities $\beta_2^+ - \beta_2^- = \operatorname{sign} M$ and $\beta_2^+ + \beta_2^- = \beta_2$, this makes it possible to compute β_2^\pm exactly. (Note: for this example, vanishing of the L^2 -cohomology in dimensions $\neq 2$ can also be proved using the representation theory of G, as in Example 1.3.4.)

2.2 Connes' Index Theorem for Foliations

Another important application to topology of finite von Neumann algebras is Connes' index theorem for tangentially elliptic operators on foliations with an invariant transverse measure.

2.2.1 Prerequisites

We begin by reviewing a few facts about foliations. A foliation \mathcal{F} of a compact smooth manifold M^n is a partition of M into (not necessarily closed) connected

¹This principle asserts that the characteristic numbers of M must be proportional to those of the compact dual symmetric space \mathbb{CP}^2 , and thus the signature of M is nonzero since the signature of \mathbb{CP}^2 is nonzero. The logic behind this is that characteristic numbers are computed from integrals of universal polynomials in the curvature forms, and these forms are determined by the structure of the Lie algebra of G, hence agree for the compact and non-compact symmetric spaces except for a sign.

2.2. Connes' Index Theorem for Foliations

submanifolds L^p called *leaves*, all of some fixed dimension p and codimension q = n - p.² The leaves are required to be the integral submanifolds of some integrable subbundle of TM, which we identify with \mathcal{F} itself. *Locally*, M looks like $L^p \times \mathbb{R}^q$, but it can easily happen that every leaf is dense. See Figure 2.1. When x and y lie on the same leaf, "sliding along the leaf" along a path in the leaf from x to y gives a germ of homeomorphisms from a transversal to the foliation at x to a transversal to the foliation at y, which is called the *holonomy*. This holonomy only depends on the homotopy class of the path chosen from x to y, and so defines a certain connected cover of the leaf, called the *holonomy cover*, which is trivial if the leaf is simply connected.



Figure 2.1: Schematic picture of a piece of a typical foliation

For purposes of Connes' index theorem we will need to do a sort of integration over the "space of leaves M/\mathcal{F} ," even though this space may not even be T_0 , let alone Hausdorff. So we will assume (M, \mathcal{F}) has an *invariant transverse* measure μ . This is a map $\mu: (T \hookrightarrow M) \mapsto \mu(T)$ from (immersed) q-dimensional submanifolds of M with compact closure, transverse to the leaves of \mathcal{F} , to the reals. It is required to satisfy countable additivity as well as the invariance property, that μ assigns the same value to every pair of transversals $T_1, T_2 \hookrightarrow M$ which are obtained from one another by a holonomy transformation. When the foliation \mathcal{F} is a fibration $L^p \to M^n \to B^q$, where the base B can be identified with the space of leaves, then an invariant transverse measure μ is simply a measure on B. If the leaves are consistently oriented, then given a p-form on M, we can integrate it over the leaves, getting a function on the base B, and then integrate against μ . More generally, without any conditions on \mathcal{F} except that it be orientable, an invariant transverse measure μ defines a closed *Ruelle-Sullivan* current [84] C_{μ} on M of dimension p. To review, a p-current is to a differential form of degree p what a distribution is to a function; it is a linear functional on (compactly supported) p-forms. The current C_{μ} is defined as follows: on a small open subset of M diffeomorphic to $D^p \times D^q$ (with \mathcal{F} tangent to the

 $^{^{2}}$ Admittedly, there is a problem with the notation here; it seems to imply that the leaves are all diffeomorphic to one another, but this is not necessarily the case.

subsets $D^p \times \{ \text{pt} \})$, given a *p*-form ω supported in this set, one has

$$\langle C_{\mu},\omega\rangle = \int \left(\int_{D^{p}\times\{x\}}\omega\right)d\mu(x)$$

There is a differential ∂ on currents dual to the exterior differential d on forms, and since C_{μ} is basically just a smeared out version of integration along the leaves, one immediately sees that $\partial C_{\mu} = 0$, so that C_{μ} defines a de Rham homology class $[C_{\mu}]$ in $H_p(M, \mathbb{R})$.

From the data M, \mathcal{F} , and μ , one can construct (see [17], [16], and [18]) a finite von Neumann algebra $A = W^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ with a trace τ coming from μ . Let's quickly review how this is constructed. When the holonomy covers of the leaves of \mathcal{F} are trivial—for instance, when all leaves are simply connected consider the graph G of the equivalence relation \sim on M of "being on the same leaf." In other words, $G = \{(x, y) \in M \times M \mid x \text{ and } y \text{ on the same leaf}\}$. Note that G can be identified with a (possibly noncompact) manifold of dimension n+p=q+2p. The algebra A is then the completion of the convolution algebra of functions (or to be more canonical, half-densities) on G of compact support, for the action of this algebra on a suitable Hilbert space defined by μ . The construction in the general case is similar, except that we replace the graph of ~ by the holonomy groupoid G, consisting of triples $(x, y, [\gamma])$ with x and y on the same leaf and $[\gamma]$ a class of paths from x to y all with the same holonomy.³ (In fact usually this nicety doesn't matter much in the von Neumann algebra context since leaves for which the holonomy cover is trivial are "generic"—see [11], Theorem 2.3.12.)

Now suppose there is a differential operator D on M which only involves differentiation in directions tangent to the leaves and is elliptic when restricted to any leaf. (Examples: the Euler characteristic operator or the Dirac operator "along the leaves.") Such an operator is called *tangentially elliptic*. Since the leaves are usually not compact, we can't compute an index for the restriction of D to one leaf. But since M, the union of the leaves, is compact, it turns out one can make sense of a numerical index $\operatorname{Ind}_{\tau} D$ for D. In the special case where \mathcal{F} has closed leaves, the foliation is a fibration $L^p \to M \xrightarrow{\operatorname{proj}} X^q$, and μ is a probability measure on X, this reduces to $\operatorname{Ind}_{\tau} D = \int_X \operatorname{Ind} (D|_{L_x}) d\mu(x)$, where $L_x = \operatorname{proj}^{-1}(x)$. In general, $\operatorname{Ind}_{\tau} D$ is roughly the "average with respect to μ " of the L^2 -index of $D|_{L_x}$, as x runs over the "space of leaves." Here we give each leaf the Riemannian structure defined by a choice of metric on the bundle \mathcal{F} .

Example 2.2.1 Let M_1 and M_2 be compact connected manifolds, and let π be the fundamental group of M_2 . If π acts on $M_1 \times \widetilde{M}_2$ with trivial action on the first factor and the usual action on the second factor, then the quotient is $M_1 \times (\widetilde{M}_2/\pi) = M_1 \times M_2$. But suppose we take *any* action of π on M_1 and then take the diagonal action of π on $M_1 \times \widetilde{M}_2$. Then $M = (M_1 \times \widetilde{M}_2)/\pi$ is compact,

 $^{^{3}}$ One has to be a little careful what one means by this when G is non-Hausdorff, but the general idea is still the same even in this case.

and projection to the second factor gives a fibration onto M_2 with fiber M_1 . But M is also foliated by the images of $\{x\} \times \widetilde{M}_2$, usually non-compact. A measure μ on M_1 invariant under the action of π is an invariant transverse measure for this foliation \mathcal{F} . If D is the Euler characteristic operator along the leaves and all the leaves are $\cong \widetilde{M}_2$, then $\operatorname{Ind}_{\tau} D$ just becomes the average L^2 -Euler characteristic of \widetilde{M} , the alternating sum of the L^2 -Betti numbers, and Connes' Theorem will reduce to Atiyah's.

2.2.2 Connes' Theorem

Theorem 2.2.2 (Connes [14], [17]) Let (M, \mathcal{F}) be a compact foliated manifold with an invariant transverse measure μ , and let $W^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ be the associated von Neumann algebra with trace τ coming from μ . Let

$$D: C^{\infty}(M, E_0) \to C^{\infty}(M, E_1)$$

be elliptic along the leaves. Then the L^2 kernels of

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D^* \\ D & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

on the various leaves assemble to a (graded) Hilbert $W^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ -module $K_0 \oplus K_1$, and

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\tau} D = \dim_{\tau} K_0 - \dim_{\tau} K_1 = \int \operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{top}} \sigma(D) \, d\,\mu,$$

where $\sigma(D)$ denotes the symbol of D and the "topological index" Ind_{top} is computed from the characteristic classes of $\sigma(D)$ just as in the usual Atiyah-Singer index theorem.

We omit the proof, which is rather complicated if one puts in all the details (but see [14], [17], and [64]). However, the basic outline of the proof is similar to that for Theorem 2.1.1, except that one must replace the group von Neumann algebra by the von Neumann algebra of the measured foliation.

2.3 An Application to Uniformization

If we specialize the Connes index theorem to the Euler characteristic operator along the leaves for foliations with 2-dimensional leaves, it reduces to:

Theorem 2.3.1 (Connes) Let (M, \mathcal{F}) be a compact foliated manifold with 2dimensional leaves and \mathcal{F} oriented. Then for every invariant transverse measure μ , the μ -average of the L²-Euler characteristic of the leaves is equal to $\langle e(\mathcal{F}), [C_{\mu}] \rangle$, where $e(\mathcal{F}) \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ is the Euler class of the oriented 2-plane bundle associated to \mathcal{F} , and $[C_{\mu}] \in H_2(M, \mathbb{R})$ is the Ruelle-Sullivan class attached to μ . The result also generalizes to compact *laminations* with 2-dimensional leaves. (That means we replace M by any compact Hausdorff space X locally of the form $\mathbb{R}^2 \times T$, where T is allowed to vary.) The only difference in this case is that we have to use *tangential* de Rham theory. This variant of Connes' Theorem is explained in [64].

Corollary 2.3.2 Suppose (X, \mathcal{F}) is a compact laminated space with 2-dimensional oriented leaves and a smooth Riemannian metric g. Let ω be the curvature 2-form of g. If there is an invariant transverse measure μ with $\langle [\omega], [C_{\mu}] \rangle > 0$, then \mathcal{F} has a set of closed leaves of positive μ -measure. If there is an invariant transverse measure μ with $\langle [\omega], [C_{\mu}] \rangle < 0$, then \mathcal{F} has a set of (conformally) hyperbolic leaves of positive μ -measure. If all the leaves are (conformally) parabolic, then $\langle [\omega], [C_{\mu}] \rangle = 0$ for every invariant transverse measure.

Proof. By Chern-Weil theory, the de Rham class of $\frac{\omega}{2\pi}$ represents the Euler class of \mathcal{F} . So by Theorem 2.3.1, $\langle [\omega], [C_{\mu}] \rangle$ is the μ -average of the L^2 -Euler characteristic of the leaves. The only oriented 2-manifold with positive L^2 -Euler characteristic is S^2 . Every hyperbolic Riemann surface has negative L^2 -Euler characteristic. And every parabolic Riemann surface (one covered by \mathbb{C} with the flat metric) has vanishing L^2 -Euler characteristic. \Box

This has been used in:

Theorem 2.3.3 (Ghys [33]) Under the hypotheses of Corollary 2.3.2, if every leaf is parabolic, then (X, \mathcal{F}, g) is approximately uniformizable, i.e., there are real-valued functions u_n (smooth on the leaves) with the curvature form of $e^{u_n}g$ tending uniformly to 0.

Note incidentally that the reason for using the curvature *form* here, as opposed to the Gaussian curvature, is that the form, unlike the Gaussian curvature, is invariant under rescaling of the metric by a constant factor.

Sketch of Proof. The proof depends on two facts about 2-dimensional Riemannian geometry. First of all, if g is a metric on a surface, and if K is its curvature, then changing g to the conformal metric $e^u g$ changes the curvature form $K dvol_g$ to $K' dvol_{e^u g} = (K - \Delta u) dvol_g$, where Δ is the Laplacian (normalized to be a *negative* operator). So if K is the curvature function for the lamination and $\Delta^{\mathcal{F}}$ is the leafwise Laplacian, it's enough to show that K is in the uniform closure of functions of the form $\Delta^{\mathcal{F}}(u)$. (For then if $\Delta^{\mathcal{F}}(u_n) \to K$, the curvature forms of $e^{u_n g}$ tend to 0.)

The second fact we need is that there exist harmonic measures ν on X, that is, measures with the property that ν annihilates all functions of the form $\Delta^{\mathcal{F}}(u)$, and that a function lies in the closure of functions of the form $\Delta^{\mathcal{F}}(u)$ if and only if it is annihilated by the harmonic measures. Indeed, by the Hahn-Banach Theorem, the uniform closure of the functions of the form $\Delta^{\mathcal{F}}(u)$ is exactly the set of functions annihilated by measures ν with $\int_X \Delta^{\mathcal{F}}(u) d\nu = 0$ for all leafwise smooth functions u. But on a subset of X of the form $U \times T$, where U is an open subset of a leaf, such measures consist exactly of integrals (with respect to some measure on T) of measures of the form h(x) dvol(x) on

2.4. Exercises

each leaf, with h a harmonic function. Thus, in the case where all the leaves are parabolic, it turns out (since there are no nonconstant positive harmonic functions on \mathbb{C}) that harmonic measures are just obtained by integrating the leafwise area measure with respect to an invariant transverse measure. Since $\langle K d \operatorname{vol}_g, [C_{\mu}] \rangle = 0$ for every invariant transverse measure by Corollary 2.3.2, the result follows. \Box

Another known fact is:

Theorem 2.3.4 (Candel [10]) Under the hypotheses of Corollary 2.3.2, if every leaf is hyperbolic, then (X, \mathcal{F}, g) is uniformizable, i.e., there is a real-valued function u (smooth along the leaves) with $e^u g$ hyperbolic on each leaf.

2.4 Exercises

Exercise 2.4.1 Let M be a compact Kähler manifold of complex dimension n. Then each Betti number $b_r(M)$ splits as $b_r(M) = \sum_{p+q=r} h^{p,q}(M)$, where the Hodge number $h^{p,q}(M)$ is the dimension of the part of the de Rham cohomology in dimension r coming from forms of type (p,q) (i.e., locally of the form $f dz_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dz_p \wedge d\overline{z_{p+1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\overline{z_{p+q}}$). And $\sum_q (-1)^q h^{0,q}(M)$, the index of the operator $\overline{\partial} + \overline{\partial}^*$ on forms of type (0, *), graded by parity of the degree, turns out to be given by the *Todd genus* $\mathrm{Td}(M)$ [41]. For example, if M is a compact Riemann surface (Kähler manifold of complex dimension 1) of genus g, then $h^{1,0}(M) = h^{0,1}(M) = g$ and $\mathrm{Td}(M) = 1 - g$. Apply the Atiyah L^2 -index theorem and see what it says about the L^2 Hodge numbers (associated to the universal cover). For example, compute the L^2 Hodge numbers when M is a compact Riemann surface of genus $g \ge 1$ (see Example 1.3.4).

Exercise 2.4.2 Part of the idea for this problem comes from [2] and [3], though we have been able to simplify things considerably by restricting to the easiest special case. Suppose $G = SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ and K = SO(2). Then attached to each character of K, which we can think of as being given by an integer parameter n by $e^{i\theta} \mapsto e^{in\theta}$, $e^{i\theta} \in SO(2) \cong S^1$, is a homogeneous holomorphic line bundle \widetilde{L}_n over $\widetilde{M} = G/K$. Let π be a discrete cocompact subgroup of G, so that $G/K \twoheadrightarrow \pi \backslash G/K$ is the universal cover of a compact Riemann surface M of genus g > 1. Note that \widetilde{L}_n descends in a natural way to a holomorphic line bundle L_n over M. Apply the L^2 -index theorem, together with the classical Riemann-Roch Theorem for L_n , to compute the L^2 -index of the $\overline{\partial}$ operator on the line bundle \widetilde{L}_n .

Then combine this result with a vanishing theorem to show that \widetilde{L}_n has L^2 holomorphic sections (with respect to the *G*-invariant measure on G/K) if and only if $n \geq 2$. Here is a sketch of the proof of the vanishing theorem. Let \mathfrak{g} and \mathfrak{k} be the complexified Lie algebras of G and of K, respectively, and suppose the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_n of L^2 holomorphic sections of L_n is non-zero. We have a splitting $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{k} \oplus \mathfrak{p} \oplus \overline{\mathfrak{p}}$, with \mathfrak{p} corresponding to the holomorphic tangent space of G/K, and $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ corresponding to the antiholomorphic tangent space. Also, \mathfrak{k} is

a Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g} \cong \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})$ and $\mathfrak{p}, \overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ are its root spaces. By definition, we have

$$\mathcal{H}_{n} = \{ f \in L^{2}(G) : f(gk) = k^{-n} f(g), g \in G, k \in K \cong S^{1}, d\rho(\overline{\mathfrak{p}}) f = 0 \}.$$

Here ρ is the right regular representation, and G acts on \mathcal{H}_n by the left regular representation λ . Then \mathcal{H}_n carries a unitary representation of G and (because of the Cauchy integral formula) must be a "reproducing kernel" Hilbert space; that is, there must be a distinguished vector $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_n$ such that $\langle s, \xi \rangle = s(e)$ for all $s \in \mathcal{H}_n$. (Here e denotes the identity element of G, which corresponds to $0 \in \mathbb{C}$ in the unit disk model of G/K.) Since $\mathcal{H}_n \neq 0$, ξ can't vanish. It turns out that $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_n$ is a "lowest weight vector," an eigenvector for \mathfrak{k} (corresponding to the character $e^{i\theta} \mapsto e^{in\theta}$ of K) that is killed by $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$. This determines the action of \mathfrak{g} , hence of G, on ξ , and the vanishing theorem is deduced from the requirement that ξ lie in L^2 . (See for example [53] for more details.)

Exercise 2.4.3 Let M be a compact manifold with $H^2(M, \mathbb{R}) = 0$, and suppose M admits a foliation with 2-dimensional leaves and an invariant transverse measure. Deduce from Corollary 2.3.2 that the "average L^2 Euler characteristic" of the leaves must vanish, and in particular, that the leaves cannot all be hyperbolic (uniformized by the unit disk). (Compare the combination of Theorems 12.3.1 and 12.5.1 in [11].)

Exercise 2.4.4 (Connes [17], §4) Let Λ_1 and Λ_2 be lattices in \mathbb{C} (that is, discrete subgroups each of rank 2) and assume that $\Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2 = \emptyset$. Consider the 4-torus $M = (\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_1) \times (\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_2)$ and let p_j , j = 1, 2 be the projection of M onto \mathbb{C}/Λ_j . Fix points $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ and let E_1 and E_2 be the holomorphic line bundles on (\mathbb{C}/Λ_j) attached to the divisors $-[z_1]$ and $[z_2]$, respectively. Then let $E = p_1^*(E_1) \otimes p_2^*(E_2)$. Consider the foliation \mathcal{F} of M obtained by pushing down the foliation of the universal cover \mathbb{C}^2 by the complex planes $\{(z, w + z) : z \in \mathbb{C}\}, w \in \mathbb{C}$. The leaves of \mathcal{F} may be identified with copies of \mathbb{C} . Since this foliation is linear, it has a transverse measure given by Haar measure on a 2-torus transverse to the leaves of \mathcal{F} . Let D be the $\overline{\partial}$ operator along the leaves, acting on E. Then on a leaf $L = im\{(z, w + z) : z \in \mathbb{C}\}$, a holomorphic section of E can be identified with a meromorphic function on \mathbb{C} with all its poles simple and contained in $z + \Lambda_1$ for some z and with zeros at points of Λ_2 . Apply the foliation index theorem to deduce an existence result about such meromorphic functions in L^2 .

24

Chapter 3

Group C*-Algebras, the Mishchenko-Fomenko Index Theorem, and Applications to Topology

3.1 The Mishchenko-Fomenko Index

The last two chapters have been about applications of von Neumann algebras to topology. In this chapter, we start to talk about applications of C^* -algebras. First we recall that a (complex) commutative C^* -algebra is always of the form $C_0(Y)$, where Y is a locally compact (Hausdorff) space, so that the study of (complex) commutative C^* -algebras is equivalent to the study of locally compact spaces. Real commutative C^* -algebras are only a bit more complicated; they correspond to locally compact spaces (associated to the complexification) together with an involutive homeomorphism (associated to the action of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R})$). These were called *Real spaces* by Atiyah. We also recall that by Swan's Theorem (see for example [47], Theorem I.6.18), the sections of a vector bundle over a compact Hausdorff space X are a finitely generated projective module over C(X), and conversely.

Definition 3.1.1 Let A be a C^* -algebra (over \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C}) with unit, and let X be a compact space. An *A*-vector bundle over X will mean a locally trivial bundle over X whose fibers are finitely generated projective (right) *A*-modules, with *A*-linear transition functions.

Example 3.1.2 If $A = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} , an A-vector bundle is just a usual vector bundle. If A = C(Y), an A-vector bundle over X is equivalent to an ordinary vector bundle over $X \times Y$. This is proved by the same method as Swan's Theorem, to which the statement reduces if X is just a point.

Definition 3.1.3 Let A be a C^* -algebra and let E_0 , E_1 be A-vector bundles over a compact manifold M. An A-elliptic operator

$$D\colon C^{\infty}(M, E_0) \to C^{\infty}(M, E_1)$$

will mean an elliptic A-linear ψ DO from sections of E_0 to sections of E_1 . Such an operator extends to a bounded A-linear map on suitable Sobolev spaces (Hilbert A-modules) \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 . One can show [62] that this map is an A-Fredholm operator, i.e., one can find a decomposition

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_0 &= \mathcal{H}'_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}''_0, \quad \mathcal{H}_1 = \mathcal{H}'_1 \oplus \mathcal{H}''_1, \\ \mathcal{H}''_0 \text{ and } \mathcal{H}''_1 \text{ finitely generated projective,} \\ D &: \mathcal{H}'_0 \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{H}'_1, \quad D \colon \mathcal{H}''_0 \to \mathcal{H}''_1. \end{aligned}$$

This means that "up to A-compact perturbation" the kernel and cokernel of D are finitely generated projective A-modules. The Mishchenko-Fomenko index of D (see [62]) is

$$\operatorname{Ind} D = [\mathcal{H}_0''] - [\mathcal{H}_1''],$$

computed in the group of formal differences of isomorphism classes of such modules, $K_0(A)$. (See Exercise 3.5.1 below.)

3.2 Flat C*-Algebra Bundles and the Assembly Map

If X is a compact space and A is a C^* -algebra with unit, the group of formal differences of isomorphism classes of A-vector bundles over X is denoted $K^0(X; A)$. The following is analogous to Swan's Theorem.

Proposition 3.2.1 If X is a compact space and A is a C^* -algebra with unit, then $K^0(X; A)$ is naturally isomorphic to $K_0(C(X) \otimes A)$.

Sketch of Proof. Suppose E is an A-vector bundle over X. Then the space $\Gamma(X, E)$ of continuous sections of E comes with commuting actions of C(X) and of A. As such, it is a module for the algebraic tensor product; we will show from the local triviality that it is in fact a module for the C^* -tensor product. Now just as in the case of ordinary vector bundles, one shows that E is complemented, i.e., that there is another A-vector bundle F such that $E \oplus F$ is a trivial bundle with fibers that are finitely generated free A-modules. Thus

$$\Gamma(X, E) \oplus \Gamma(X, F) \cong \Gamma(X, E \oplus F)$$
$$\cong \Gamma(X, X \times A^n) \cong C(X, A)^n \cong (C(X) \otimes A)^n$$

for some n. Hence $\Gamma(X, E)$ is a finitely generated projective $(C(X) \otimes A)$ -module. Now it's clear that the Grothendieck groups of A-vector bundles and of finitely generated projective $(C(X) \otimes A)$ -modules coincide. \Box

Definition 3.2.2 Let X be a compact space, $\tilde{X} \to X$ a normal covering with covering group π . Let $C_r^*(\pi)$ be the reduced group C^* -algebra of π (the completion of the group ring in the operator norm for its action on $L^2(\pi)$). The universal $C_r^*(\pi)$ -bundle over X is

$$\mathcal{V}_X = \widetilde{X} \times_\pi C_r^*(\pi) \to X.$$

This is clearly a $C_r^*(\pi)$ -vector bundle over X. As such, by Proposition 3.2.1 it has a class $[\mathcal{V}_X] \in K^0(X; C_r^*(\pi))$, which is pulled back (via the classifying map $X \to B\pi$) from the class of

$$\mathcal{V} = E\pi \times_{\pi} C_r^*(\pi) \to B\pi$$

in $K^0(B\pi; C_r^*(\pi))$. Here $B\pi$ is the classifying space of π , a space (with the homotopy type of a CW complex) having π as its fundamental group, and with contractible universal cover $E\pi$. Such a space always exists and is unique up to homotopy equivalence. Furthermore, by obstruction theory, every normal covering with covering group π is pulled back from the "universal" π -covering $E\pi \to B\pi$. "Slant product" with $[\mathcal{V}]$ (a special case of the Kasparov product) defines the assembly map

$$\mathcal{A}\colon K_*(B\pi)\to K_*(C_r^*(\pi)).$$

(There is a slight abuse of notation here. $B\pi$ may not be compact, but it can always be approximated by finite CW complexes. So if there is no finite model for $B\pi$, $K_*(B\pi)$ is to be interpreted as the direct limit of $K_*(X)$ as X runs over the finite subcomplexes of $B\pi$. This direct limit is independent of the choice of a model for $B\pi$.)

Note that since the universal $C_r^*(\pi)$ -bundle over X or $B\pi$ is canonically trivialized over the universal cover, it comes with a flat connection, that is, a notion of what it means for a section to be locally flat. (A locally flat section near x is one which in a small evenly covered neighborhood lifts to a constant section $U \to C_r^*(\pi)$.)

3.3 Kasparov Theory and the Index Theorem

The formalism of Kasparov theory (see [5] or [40]) attaches, to an elliptic operator D on a manifold M, a K-homology class $[D] \in K_*(M)$. If M is compact, the collapse map $c: M \to \text{pt}$ is proper and $\text{Ind } D = c_*([D]) \in K_*(\text{pt})$.

Now if E is an A-vector bundle over M and D is an elliptic operator over M, we can form "D with coefficients in E," an A-elliptic operator. The Mishchenko-Fomenko index of this operator is computed by pairing

$$[D] \in K_*(M)$$
 with $[E] \in K^0(M; A)$.

In particular, if $\widetilde{M} \to M$ is a normal covering of M with covering group π , then we can form D with coefficients in \mathcal{V}_X , and its index is $\mathcal{A} \circ u_*([D])$, where $u: M \to B\pi$ is the classifying map for the covering.

Conjecture 3.3.1 (Novikov Conjecture) The assembly map $\mathcal{A}: K_*(B\pi) \to K_*(C_r^*(\pi))$ is rationally injective for all groups π , and is injective for all torsion-free groups π .

This is quite different from the original form of Novikov's conjecture, though it implies it. Therefore Conjecture 3.3.1 is often called the *Strong* Novikov Conjecture. We will see the exact connection with the original form of the conjecture shortly. Stronger than Conjecture 3.3.1 is the *Baum-Connes Conjecture*, which gives a conjectural calculation of $K_*(C_r^*(\pi))$.¹ When π is torsion-free, the Baum-Connes Conjecture amounts to the statement that \mathcal{A} is an isomorphism. There are no known counterexamples to Conjecture 3.3.1, or for that matter to the Baum-Connes Conjecture for discrete groups (though it is known to fail for some groupoids). Conjecture 3.3.1 is known for discrete subgroups of Lie groups ([49], [48]), amenable groups [39], hyperbolic groups [50], and many other classes of groups.

3.4 Applications

1. The L^2 -Index Theorem and Integrality of the Trace. The connection with Atiyah's Theorem from Chapter 2 is as follows. Suppose D is an elliptic operator on a compact manifold M, and $\widetilde{M} \to M$ is a normal covering of M with covering group π . The group C^* -algebra $C^*_r(\pi)$ embeds in the group von Neumann algebra, and the trace τ then induces a homomorphism $\tau_* \colon K_0(C^*_r(\pi)) \to \mathbb{R}$. The image under τ_* of the index of D with coefficients in $C^*_r(\pi)$ can be identified with the L^2 -index of \widetilde{D} , the lift of D to \widetilde{M} . Atiyah's Theorem thus becomes the assertion that the following diagram commutes:



¹The precise statement is that an assembly map $\mathcal{A}_{BC}: K^{\pi}_{*}(\mathcal{E}\pi) \to K_{*}(C^{r}_{r}(\pi))$ is an isomorphism. Here $\mathcal{E}\pi$ is a contractible CW complex on which G acts properly (though not necessarily freely), and K^{π}_{*} is equivariant K-homology. When G is torsion-free, $\mathcal{E}\pi = E\pi$, $K^{\pi}_{*}(\mathcal{E}\pi) = K^{\pi}_{*}(E\pi) = K_{*}(B\pi)$, and $\mathcal{A}_{BC} = \mathcal{A}$. In general, one has a π -equivariant map $E\pi \to \mathcal{E}\pi$, and \mathcal{A} factors through \mathcal{A}_{BC} .

3.4. Applications

This has the consequence, not obvious on its face, that τ_* takes only integral values on the image of the assembly map.² Thus if the assembly map is surjective, as when π is torsion-free and the Baum-Connes Conjecture holds for π , then $\tau_*: K_0(C_r^*(\pi)) \to \mathbb{R}$ takes only integral values. This in particular implies the Kaplansky-Kadison Conjecture, that $C_r^*(\pi)$ has no idempotents other than 0 or 1 [94]. The reason is that if $e = e^2 \in C_r^*(\pi)$, and if $0 \leq e \leq 1$, then e defines a class in $K_0(C_r^*(\pi))$ and $0 < \tau(e) < 1 = \tau(1)$, contradicting our integrality statement.

2. Original Version of the Novikov Conjecture. Consider the signature operator D on a closed oriented manifold M^{4k} . This is constructed (see page 18) so that Ind D is the *signature* of M, i.e., the signature of the form

$$\langle x, y \rangle = \langle x \cup y, [M] \rangle$$

on middle cohomology $H^{2k}(M, \mathbb{R})$. The signature is obviously an oriented homotopy invariant, since it only depends on the structure of the cohomology ring (determined by the homotopy type) and on the choice of fundamental class [M] (determined by the orientation). Hirzebruch's formula says sign $M = \langle \mathcal{L}(M), [M] \rangle$, where $\mathcal{L}(M)$ is a power series in the rational Pontryagin classes, the Poincaré dual of $\operatorname{Ch}[D]$. Here $\operatorname{Ch}: K_0(M) \to H_*(M, \mathbb{Q})$ is the Chern character, a natural transformation of homology theories (and in fact a rational isomorphism). The unusual feature of Hirzebruch's formula is that the rational Pontryagin classes, and thus the \mathcal{L} -class, are *not* homotopy invariants of M; only the term in $\mathcal{L}(M)$ of degree equal to the dimension of M is a homotopy invariant. For example, it is known from surgery theory how to construct "fake" complex projective spaces homotopy equivalent to \mathbb{CP}^m , $m \geq 3$, with wildly varying Pontryagin classes.

If $u: M \to B\pi$ for some discrete group π (such as the fundamental group of M), $u_*(\operatorname{Ch}[D]) \in H_*(B\pi, \mathbb{Q})$ is called a *higher signature* of M, and Novikov conjectured that, like the ordinary signature (the case $\pi = 1$), it is an oriented homotopy invariant. The conjecture follows from injectivity of the assembly map, since Kasparov ([49], §9, Theorem 2) and Mishchenko ([63], [61]) showed that $\mathcal{A} \circ u_*([D])$ is an oriented homotopy invariant. Another proof of the homotopy invariance of $\mathcal{A} \circ u_*([D])$ may be found in [46]. For much more on the background and history of the Novikov Conjecture, see [30].

3. Positive Scalar Curvature. An oriented Riemannian manifold M^n has a natural principal SO(n)-bundle attached to it, the (oriented) orthonormal frame bundle, $P \to M$. The fiber of P over any point $x \in M$ is by definition the set of oriented orthonormal bases for the tangent space T_xM , and SO(n) acts simply transitively on this set. Now SO(n) has a double cover Spin(n) (which if $n \geq 3$ is also the universal cover), and a lifting of $P \to M$ to a principal Spin(n)-bundle $\hat{P} \to M$ is called a *spin structure* on M. When M is connected, it is fairly easy to show that such a structure exists if and only if the second

²Here we are using the fact that every element of $K_0(B\pi)$ lies in the image of K_0 of some manifold M with a map $M \to B\pi$. This can be deduced from "Conner-Floyd type" theorems about the relationship between K-homology and bordism. Of course in the case where $B\pi$ can be chosen to be a compact manifold, this fact is obvious.

Stiefel-Whitney class $w_2(M)$ vanishes in $H^2(M, \mathbb{Z}/2)$, and that $H^1(M, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ acts simply transitively on the set of spin structures (compatible with a fixed choice of orientation) ([54], Chapter II, §2). If M^n is a closed spin manifold, then Mcarries a special first-order elliptic operator, the [Cliff_n(\mathbb{R})-linear] *Dirac operator* D ([54], Chapter II, §7), with a class $[D] \in KO_n(M)$. The operator D depends on a choice of Riemannian metric, though its K-homology class is independent of the choice. Lichnerowicz [55] proved that

$$D^2 = \nabla^* \nabla + \frac{\kappa}{4},\tag{3.1}$$

where κ is the scalar curvature of the metric. Thus if $\kappa > 0$, the spectrum of D is bounded away from 0 and Ind D = 0 in

$$KO_n(\text{pt}) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}, & n \equiv 0 \mod 4, \\ \mathbb{Z}/2, & n \equiv 1 \text{ or } 2 \mod 8, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Gromov and Lawson [35] established the fundamental tools for proving a partial converse to this statement. Their work was completed by Stolz, who proved:

Theorem 3.4.1 (Stolz [91]) If M^n is a closed simply connected spin manifold with Dirac operator class $[D] \in KO_n(M)$, and if $n \ge 5$, then M admits a metric of positive scalar curvature if and only if $\operatorname{Ind} D = 0$ in $KO_n(\operatorname{pt})$.

What if M is not simply connected? Then Gromov-Lawson ([36], [37]) and Schoen-Yau ([88], [87], [89]) showed there are other obstructions coming from the fundamental group, and Gromov-Lawson suggested that the "higher index" of Dis responsible. Rosenberg ([75], [76], [80]) then pointed out that the Mishchenko-Fomenko Index Theorem is an ideal tool for verifying this.

Theorem 3.4.2 (Rosenberg) Suppose M is a closed spin manifold and $u: M \to B\pi$ classifies the universal cover of M. If M admits a metric of positive scalar curvature and if the (strong) Novikov Conjecture holds for π , then $u_*([D]) = 0$ in $KO_n(B\pi)$.

Sketch of Proof. Suppose M admits a metric of positive scalar curvature. Consider the Dirac operator $D_{\mathcal{V}}$ with coefficients in the universal $C_r^*(\pi)$ -bundle \mathcal{V}_M . As we remarked earlier, the bundle \mathcal{V}_M has a natural flat connection. If we use this connection to define $D_{\mathcal{V}}$, then Lichnerowicz's identity (3.1) will still hold with $D_{\mathcal{V}}$ in place of D, since there is no contribution from curvature of the bundle. Thus $\kappa > 0$ implies $\operatorname{Ind} D_{\mathcal{V}} = \mathcal{A}(u_*([D])) = 0$. Thus if \mathcal{A} is injective, we can conclude that $u_*([D]) = 0$ in $KO_n(B\pi)$. \Box

For some torsion-free groups, the converse is known to hold for $n \ge 5$, generalizing Theorem 3.4.1. See [80] for details.

Conjecture 3.4.3 (Gromov-Lawson) A closed aspherical manifold cannot admit a metric of positive scalar curvature.

3.5. Exercises

Theorem 3.4.2 shows that the Strong Novikov Conjecture implies Conjecture 3.4.3, at least for spin manifolds.

For groups with torsion, the assembly map is usually not a monomorphism (see Exercise 3.5.2), so the converse of Theorem 3.4.2 is quite unlikely. However, for spin manifolds with finite fundamental group, it is possible (as conjectured in [77]) that vanishing of $\mathcal{A}(u_*([D])) = 0$ is necessary and sufficient for positive scalar curvature, at least once the dimension gets to be sufficiently large. Since not much is known about this, it is convenient to simplify the problem by "stabilizing."

Definition 3.4.4 Fix a simply connected spin manifold J^8 of dimension 8 with \widehat{A} -genus 1. (Such a manifold is known to exist, and Joyce [43] constructed an explicit example with Spin(7) holonomy.) Taking a product with J does not change the KO-index of the Dirac operator. Say that a manifold M stably admits a metric of positive scalar curvature if there is a metric on $M \times J \times \cdots \times J$ with positive scalar curvature, for sufficiently many J factors. In support of this definition, we have:

Proposition 3.4.5 A simply connected closed manifold M^n of dimension $n \neq 3, 4$ stably admits a metric of positive scalar curvature if and only if it actually admits a metric of positive scalar curvature.

Sketch of Proof. We may as well assume $n \ge 5$, since if $n \le 2$, then M is diffeomorphic to S^2 and certainly has a metric of positive scalar curvature. There are two cases to consider. If M admits a spin structure, then by Theorem 3.4.1, M admits a metric of positive scalar curvature if and only if the index of D vanishes in KO_n . But if the index is non-zero in KO_n , then M does not even stably admit a metric of positive scalar curvature, since the KO_n -index of Dirac is the same for $M \times J \times \cdots \times J$ as it is for M. If M does not admit a spin structure, then Gromov and Lawson [35] showed M always admits a metric of positive scalar curvature. \Box

For finite fundamental group, the best general result is:

Theorem 3.4.6 (Rosenberg-Stolz [79]) Let M^n be a spin manifold with finite fundamental group π , with Dirac operator class [D], and with classifying map $u: M \to B\pi$ for the universal cover. Then M stably admits a metric of positive scalar curvature if and only $\mathcal{A} \circ u_*([D]) = 0$ in $KO_n(C_r^*(\pi))$. (Of course, for π finite, $C_r^*(\pi) = \mathbb{R}[\pi]$.)

This has been generalized by Stolz to those groups π for which the Baum-Connes assembly map \mathcal{A}_{BC} in KO is injective. This is a fairly large class including all discrete subgroups of Lie groups.

3.5 Exercises

Exercise 3.5.1 (Mishchenko-Fomenko) Let A be a C^* -algebra. Suppose that a bounded A-linear map $D: H_0 \to H_1$ between two Hilbert A-modules is

A-Fredholm, i.e., has a decomposition as in Definition 3.1.3. Show that $\operatorname{Ind} D \in K_0(A)$ is well-defined, i.e., does not depend on the choice of decomposition. On the other hand, show by example that it is not necessarily true that D has closed range, and hence it is not necessarily true that we can define $\operatorname{Ind} D$ as $[\ker D] - [\operatorname{coker} D]$.

Exercise 3.5.2 Let G be a finite group of order n. Show that

$$C_r^*(G) = \mathbb{C}G \cong \bigoplus_{\sigma \in \widehat{G}} M_{\dim(\sigma)}(\mathbb{C}), \quad \text{and} \quad K_0(C_r^*(G)) \cong \mathbb{Z}^c, \quad K_1(C_r^*(G)) = 0,$$

where \widehat{G} is the set of irreducible representations of G and $c = \#(\widehat{G})$ is the number of conjugacy classes in G. (This is all for the *complex* group algebra.) Since $K_0(BG)$ is a torsion group, deduce that the assembly map $\mathcal{A} : K_*(BG) \to K_*(C_r^*(G))$ is identically zero in all degrees. (This is not necessarily the case for the assembly map on KO in degrees 1, 2, 5, 6 mod 8 for the *real* group ring if G is of even order—see Exercise 3.5.6 below and [79].) On the other hand, the Baum-Connes Conjecture is true for this case (for more or less trivial reasons here $\mathcal{E}G = \operatorname{pt}$ and the definition of $K_0^G(\operatorname{pt})$ makes it coincide with $K_0(C_r^*(G))$).

Compute the trace map $\tau_* \colon K_0(C_r^*(G)) \to \mathbb{R}$ for this example, and show that it sends the generator of $K_0(C_r^*(G))$ attached to an irreducible representation σ to $\frac{\dim(\sigma)}{|G|}$. (Hint: The generator corresponds to a certain minimal idempotent in $\mathbb{C}G$. Write it down explicitly (as a linear combination of group elements), using the Schur orthogonality relations.) Deduce that $\tau_*(K_0(C_r^*(G))) = \frac{1}{|G|}\mathbb{Z}$, the rational numbers with denominator a divisor of |G|.

Exercise 3.5.3 Let Γ be the infinite dihedral group, the semidirect product $\mathbb{Z} \rtimes \{\pm 1\}$, where $\{\pm 1\}$ acts on \mathbb{Z} by multiplication. Show by explicit calculation that $C_r^*(\Gamma)$ can be identified with the algebra

 $\{f \in C([0,1], M_2(\mathbb{C})) : f(0) \text{ and } f(1) \text{ are diagonal matrices} \}.$

(To show this, identify $C_r^*(\Gamma)$ with the crossed product $C(S^1) \rtimes \{\pm 1\}$, where $\{\pm 1\}$ acts on $C_r^*(\mathbb{Z}) \cong C(S^1)$ by complex conjugation. The orbit space $S^1/\{\pm 1\}$ can be identified with an interval. Interior points of this interval correspond to irreducible representations of Γ of dimension 2, and over each endpoint there are two irreducible representations of Γ , each of dimension 1.

Then show that the range of the trace map $\tau_* \colon K_0(C_r^*(\Gamma)) \to \mathbb{R}$ is the halfintegers $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z} = \{0, \pm \frac{1}{2}, \pm 1, \pm \frac{3}{2}, \cdots\}.$

This example and others like it, along with Exercise 3.5.2, led to the conjecture ([4], p. 21) that for an arbitrary group G, $\tau_*(K_0(C_r^*(G)))$ is the subgroup of \mathbb{Q} generated by the numbers $\frac{1}{|H|}$, where H is a finite subgroup of G. However, this conjecture has turned out to be false ([83], [82]), even with $K_0(C_r^*(G))$ (which in general is inaccessible) replaced by the more tractable image of the Baum-Connes map \mathcal{A}_{BC} . However, it is shown in [60] that the range of the trace on the image of the Baum-Connes map \mathcal{A}_{BC} is contained in the sub*ring* of \mathbb{Q}

3.5. Exercises

generated by the reciprocals of the orders of the finite subgroups. In particular, if the Baum-Connes conjecture holds for G, then the range of the trace lies in this subring.

Exercise 3.5.4 Suppose Γ is a discrete group and π is a subgroup of Γ of finite index. Then one has a commuting diagram

Here ι_* is the map induced by the inclusion $\pi \hookrightarrow \Gamma$. But there is also a transfer map ι^* backwards from $K_0(C_r^*(\Gamma))$ to $K_0(C_r^*(\pi))$ which multiplies traces by the index $[\Gamma : \pi]$, since $C_r^*(\Gamma)$ is a free $C_r^*(\pi)$ -module of rank $[\Gamma : \pi]$. Similarly, there is a compatible transfer map $\iota^* \colon K_0(B\Gamma) \to K_0(B\pi)$, and $\iota_* \circ \iota^*$ is an isomorphism on $K_0(B\Gamma)$ after inverting $[\Gamma : \pi]$. Suppose that the Baum-Connes Conjecture holds for both π and Γ , so that in this diagram, \mathcal{A}_{π} and \mathcal{A}_{BC} are isomorphisms. Then what does this imply about integrality of the trace on $K_0(C_r^*(\Gamma))$? Compare with the conjectures discussed in Exercise 3.5.3.

Exercise 3.5.5 Suppose Γ is a discrete group and $e = e^2 \in \mathbb{C}[\Gamma]$. Show that $\tau(e)$ must lie in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, the algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q} . Hint [9]: Consider the action of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{Q})$ on $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma]$, as well as the positivity of τ . In fact, it is even proved in [9] that $\tau(e) \in \mathbb{Q}$, but this is much harder.

Exercise 3.5.6 Let $\pi = \mathbb{Z}/2$, a cyclic group of order 2, so that the *real* group C^* -algebra $\mathbb{R}[\pi]$ of π is isomorphic to $\mathbb{R} \oplus \mathbb{R}$ and the classifying space $B\pi = \mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^{\infty}$. Show that the assembly map $\mathcal{A}: KO_1(B\pi) \to KO_1(\mathbb{R}[\pi]) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}/2$ is surjective. Hints: For the summand corresponding to the trivial representation, you don't have to do any work, because of the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} KO_*(\mathrm{pt}) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{A}_{\{1\}}} & KO_*(\mathbb{R}) \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ &$$

For the other summand, make use of the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} KO_*(S^1) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{Z}}} & KO_*(C_r^*(\mathbb{Z})) \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ KO_*(B\pi) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{A}_{\pi}} & KO_*(\mathbb{R}[\pi]), \end{array}$$

where the vertical arrows are induced by the "reduction mod 2" map $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}/2$.

Exercise 3.5.7 Let M^n be a smooth compact manifold and let Y be some compact space. Suppose $D: x \mapsto D_x$ is a continuously varying family of elliptic operators on M, parameterized by Y. Show that D defines a C(Y)-elliptic operator over M, and thus has a C(Y)-index in the sense of Mishchenko and Fomenko. (This is the same as the "families index" of Atiyah and Singer.) Also show that if dim ker D_x and dim ker D_x^* remain constant, so that $x \mapsto \ker D_x$ and $x \mapsto \ker D_x^*$ define vector bundles ker D and ker D^* over X, then Ind $D = [\ker D] - [\ker D^*]$ in $K_0(C(Y)) \cong K^0(Y)$. (The isomorphism here is given by Swan's Theorem.)

Chapter 4

Other C^* -Algebras and Applications in Topology: Group Actions, Foliations, \mathbb{Z}/k -Indices, and Coarse Geometry

4.1 Crossed Products and Invariants of Group Actions

If a (locally compact) group G acts on a locally compact space X, one can form the transformation group C^* -algebra or crossed product $C^*(G, X)$ or $C_0(X) \rtimes G$. The definition is easiest to explain when G is discrete; then $C^*(G, X)$ is the universal C^* -algebra generated by a copy of $C_0(X)$ and unitaries $u_g, g \in G$, subject to the relations that

$$u_g u_h = u_{gh}, \quad u_g f u_g^* = g \cdot f \text{ for } g, h \in G, f \in C_0(X).$$
 (4.1)

Here $g \cdot f(x) = f(g^{-1} \cdot x)$. In general, $C^*(G, X)$ is the C^* -completion of the twisted convolution algebra of $C_0(X)$ -valued continuous functions of compact support on G, and its multiplier algebra still contains copies of $C_0(X)$ and of G satisfying relations (4.1). (In fact, products of an element of $C^*(G)$ and of an element of $C_0(X)$, in either order, lie in the crossed product and are dense in it.) When G acts freely and properly on X, $C^*(G, X)$ is strongly Morita equivalent to $C_0(G/X)$.¹ It thus plays the role of the algebra of functions on G/X, even

¹(Strong) Morita equivalence (see [71]) is one of the most useful equivalence relations on the class of C^* -algebras. When A and B are separable C^* -algebras, it has a simple characterization

when the latter is a "bad" space, and captures much of the equivariant topology, as we see from:

Theorem 4.1.1 (Green-Julg [44]) If G is compact, there is a natural isomorphism

$$K_*(C^*(G,X)) \cong K_G^{-*}(X).$$

There are many other results relating the structure of $C^*(G, X)$ to the topology of the transformation group (G, X); the reader interested in this topic can see the surveys [68], [69], and [66] for an introduction and references. In this chapter we will only need the rather special cases where either G is compact or else G acts locally freely (i.e., with finite isotropy groups).

Definition 4.1.2 An *n*-dimensional orbifold X is a space covered by charts each homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n/G , where G is a finite group (which may vary from chart to chart) acting linearly on \mathbb{R}^n , and with compatible transition functions. A smooth orbifold if defined similarly, but with the transition functions required to lift to be C^{∞} on the open subsets of Euclidean space. The most obvious kind of example is a quotient of a manifold by a locally linear action of a finite group. But not every orbifold, not even every compact smooth orbifold, is a quotient of a manifold by a finite group action. (The simplest counterexample or "bad orbifold" is the "teardrop" X, shown in Figure 4.1. Here the bottom half of the space is a hemisphere, and the top half is the quotient of a hemisphere by a cyclic group acting by rotations around the pole. If X were of the form M/Gwith M a manifold and G finite, then M would have to be S^2 , and we run afoul of the fact that any nontrivial orientation-preserving diffeomorphism of S^2 of finite order has to have at least two fixed points, by the Lefschetz fixed-point theorem.)



Figure 4.1: The teardrop

36

^{[8]:} A and B are strongly Morita equivalent if and only if $A \otimes \mathcal{K} \cong B \otimes \mathcal{K}$, where \mathcal{K} is the C^* -algebra of compact operators on a separable, infinite-dimensional Hilbert space.

4.2. Foliation C^* -Algebras and Applications

On a smooth orbifold X, we have a notion of Riemannian metric, which on a patch looking like \mathbb{R}^n/G , G finite, is simply a Riemannian metric on \mathbb{R}^n invariant under the action of G. Similarly, once a Riemannian metric has been fixed, we have a notion of orthonormal frame at a point. As on a smooth manifold, these patch together to give the orthonormal frame bundle \tilde{X} , and O(n) acts locally freely on \tilde{X} , with $\tilde{X}/O(n)$ identifiable with X. $C^*_{\text{orb}}(X) = C^*(O(n), \tilde{X})$ is called the orbifold C^* -algebra of X. This notion is due to Farsi [28]. (It depends on the orbifold structure, not just the homeomorphism class of X as a space.) Note that $C^*_{\text{orb}}(X)$ is strongly Morita equivalent to $C_0(X)$ when X is a manifold, or to $C^*(G, M)$ when X is the quotient of a manifold M by an action of a finite group G.

An elliptic operator D on a smooth orbifold X (which in each local chart \mathbb{R}^n/G , G a finite group, is a G-invariant elliptic operator on \mathbb{R}^n) defines a class $[D] \in K^{-*}(C^*_{\text{orb}}(X))$ (which we think of as $K^{\text{orb}}_*(X)$). Note that if X is actually a manifold, this is just $K_*(X)$, by Morita invariance of Kasparov theory. If X is compact, then as in the manifold case, $\text{Ind } D = c_*([D]) \in K_*(\text{pt})$.

Applying the Kasparov formalism and working out all the terms, one can deduce ([27], [28], [29]) various index theorems for orbifolds, originally obtained by Kawasaki [51] by a different method.

4.2 Foliation C*-Algebras and Applications

Definition 4.2.1 Let M^n be a compact smooth manifold, \mathcal{F} a foliation of M by leaves L^p of dimension p, codimension q = n - p. Then one can define a C^* -algebra $C^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ encoding the structure of the foliation. (This is the C^* -completion of the convolution algebra of functions, or more canonically, half-densities, on the holonomy groupoid.) When the foliation is a fibration $L \to M \to X$, where X is a compact q-manifold, then $C^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ is strongly Morita equivalent to C(X). Since K-theory is Morita invariant, this justifies thinking of $K_*(C^*(M, \mathcal{F}))$ as $K^{-*}(M/\mathcal{F})$, the K-theory of the space of leaves. When the foliation comes from a locally free action of a Lie group G on M, then $C^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ is just the crossed product $C^*(G, M)$.

Introducing $C^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ makes it possible to extend the Connes index theorem for foliations. If D is an operator elliptic along the leaves, then in general Ind Dis an element of the group $K_0(C^*(M, \mathcal{F}))$. If there is an invariant transverse measure μ , then one obtains Connes' real-valued index by composing with the map

$$\int d\mu \colon K_0(C^*(M,\mathcal{F})) \to \mathbb{R}$$

Theorem 4.2.2 (Connes-Skandalis [19]) Let (M, \mathcal{F}) be a compact (smooth) foliated manifold and let

$$D: C^{\infty}(M, E_0) \to C^{\infty}(M, E_1)$$

be elliptic along the leaves. Then $\operatorname{Ind} D \in K_0(C^*(M, \mathcal{F}))$ agrees with a "topological index" $\operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{top}}(D)$ computed from the characteristic classes of $\sigma(D)$, just as in the usual Atiyah-Singer index theorem.

Example 4.2.3 The simplest example of this is when M splits as a product $Y \times L$, the foliation \mathcal{F} is by slices $\{x\} \times L$, and D is given by a continuous family of elliptic operators D_x on L, parameterized by the points in Y, just as in Exercise 3.5.7. Then $C^*(M, \mathcal{F})$ is Morita equivalent to C(Y), and Ind D as in the Theorem 4.2.2 is exactly the Atiyah-Singer "families index" in $K_0(C(Y)) = K^0(Y)$, which as shown in Exercise 3.5.7 can also be viewed as a case of a Mishchenko-Fomenko index.

Corollary 4.2.4 (Connes-Skandalis [19], Corollary 4.15) Let (M, \mathcal{F}) be a compact foliated manifold and let D be the Euler characteristic operator along the leaves. Then Ind D is the class of the zeros Z of a generic vector field along the fibers, counting signs appropriately.² (Compare the Poincaré-Hopf Theorem, which identifies the Euler characteristic of a compact manifold with the sum of the zeros of a generic vector field, counted with appropriate signs.)

The advantage of Theorem 4.2.2 and of Corollary 4.2.4 over Theorem 2.2.2 and its corollaries is that we don't need to assume the existence of an invariant transverse measure, which is quite a strong hypothesis. However, if such a measure μ exists, the numerical index in the situation of Corollary 4.2.4 is simply $\mu(Z)$.

Example 4.2.5 Let M be a compact Riemann surface of genus $g \ge 2$, so that its universal covering space \widetilde{M} is the hyperbolic plane, and its fundamental group π is a discrete torsion-free cocompact subgroup of $G = PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$. Let $V = \widetilde{M} \times_{\pi} S^2$, where π acts on $S^2 = \mathbb{CP}^1$ by projective transformations (i.e., the embedding $PSL(2, \mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow PSL(2, \mathbb{C})$); V is an S^2 -bundle over M. Foliate Vby the images of $\widetilde{M} \times \{x\}$. In this case there is no invariant transverse measure, since π does not leave any measure on S^2 invariant. Nevertheless, Ind D is nonzero in $K_0(C^*(V, \mathcal{F}))$. (It is $-2(g-1) \cdot [S^2]$, where $[S^2]$ is the push-forward of the class of $S^2 \hookrightarrow V$ [19], pp. 1173–1174.)

One case of Theorem 4.2.2 that is easier to understand is the case where the foliation \mathcal{F} results from a locally free action of a simply connected solvable Lie group G on the compact manifold M. As explained before, we then have $C^*(M, \mathcal{F}) \cong C(M) \rtimes G$. However, because of the structure theory of simply connected solvable Lie groups, the crossed product by G is obtained by dim G successive crossed products by \mathbb{R} . However, when it comes to crossed products by \mathbb{R} , there is a remarkable result of Connes that can be used for computing the K-theory. For simplicity we state it only for complex K-theory, though there is a version for KO as well.

²Think of Z as a manifold transverse to the leaves of \mathcal{F} , and take the "push-forward" of the class of the trivial vector bundle over Z.

Theorem 4.2.6 (Connes' "Thom Isomorphism" [15], [70], [22]) Let A be a C^{*}-algebra equipped with a continuous action α of \mathbb{R} by automorphisms. Then there are natural isomorphisms $K_0(A) \xrightarrow{\cong} K_1(A \rtimes_\alpha \mathbb{R})$ and $K_1(A) \xrightarrow{\cong} K_0(A \rtimes_\alpha \mathbb{R})$.

Note. Homotope the action α of \mathbb{R} on A to the trivial action by considering $\alpha_t, \alpha_t(s) = \alpha(ts), 0 \le t \le 1$, so $\alpha_1 = \alpha$ and α_0 is the trivial action. One way of understanding the theorem is that it says from the point of view of K-theory, $K_*(A \rtimes_{\alpha_t} \mathbb{R})$ is independent of t, and thus

$$K_*(A \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathbb{R}) \cong K_*(A \rtimes_{\text{trivial}} \mathbb{R}) \cong K_*(A \otimes C^*(\mathbb{R})) \cong K_*(A \otimes C_0(\mathbb{R})),$$

which can be computed easily by Bott periodicity.

Sketch of Proof. Connes' method of proof is to show that there is a unique family of maps $\phi_{\alpha}^{i} : K_{i}(A) \to K_{i+1}(A \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathbb{R}), i \in \mathbb{Z}/2$, defined for all C^{*} -algebras A equipped with an \mathbb{R} -action α , and satisfying compatibility with suspension, naturality, and reducing to the usual isomorphism $K_{0}(\mathbb{C}) \to K_{1}(\mathbb{R})$ when $A = \mathbb{C}$. Then these maps have to be isomorphisms, since Takesaki-Takai duality [93] gives an isomorphism $(A \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathbb{R}) \rtimes_{\widehat{\alpha}} \mathbb{R} \cong A \otimes \mathcal{K}$ (here $\widehat{\alpha}$ is the dual action of the Pontryagin dual $\widehat{\mathbb{R}} \cong \mathbb{R}$ of \mathbb{R}), and then by the axioms, $\phi_{\widehat{\alpha}}^{i+1} \circ \phi_{\alpha}^{i} \colon K_{i}(A) \to K_{i+2}(A) \cong K_{i}(A)$ must coincide with the Bott periodicity isomorphism. The only real problem is thus the existence and uniqueness. First Connes shows that if e is a projection in A, there is an action α' exterior equivalent to α (in other words, related to it by a 1-cocycle with values in the unitary elements of the multiplier algebra) that leaves e fixed. Since exterior equivalent actions are opposite "corners" of an action β of \mathbb{R} on $M_{2}(A)$, by Connes' "cocycle trick," the K-theory for their crossed products is the same.³ So if there is a map ϕ_{α}^{0} with the correct properties, $\phi_{\alpha}^{0}([e])$ is determined via the commuting diagram

$$K_{0}(A) \xrightarrow{\phi_{\alpha}^{0}} K_{1}(A \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathbb{R})$$

$$\downarrow^{\cong}$$

$$K_{0}(A) \xrightarrow{\phi_{\alpha'}^{0}} K_{1}(A \rtimes_{\alpha'} \mathbb{R})$$

$$[1] \mapsto [e] \uparrow \qquad \uparrow$$

$$\mathbb{Z} = K_{0}(\mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{\phi_{\text{trivial}}^{0}} K_{1}(C^{*}(\mathbb{R})) = \mathbb{Z}.$$

Here the upward arrows at the bottom are induced by the inclusion $\mathbb{C} \cdot e \hookrightarrow A$. The axioms quickly reduce all other cases of uniqueness down to this one, so it

$$\beta(t) \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t(a_{11}) & \alpha_t(a_{12})u_t^* \\ u_t\alpha_t(a_{21}) & \alpha'_t(a_{22}) \end{pmatrix}$$

³For α and α' to be exterior equivalent means that $\alpha'_t(a) = u_t \alpha_t(a) u_t^*$, for some map $t \mapsto u_t$ from \mathbb{R} to the unitaries of the multiplier algebra of A such that for each $a \in A$, $t \mapsto u_t a$ and $t \mapsto au_t$ are norm-continuous. Then one can manufacture an action of \mathbb{R} on $M_2(A)$, the 2×2 matrices with entries in A, by the formula

remains only to prove existence. There are many arguments for this: see [70], [22], and §10.2.2 and §19.3.6 in [5]. The most elegant argument uses KK-theory, but even without this one can define ϕ_{α}^{*} to be the connecting map in the long exact K-theory sequence for the "Toeplitz extension"

$$0 \to (C_0(\mathbb{R}) \otimes A) \rtimes_{\tau \otimes \alpha} \mathbb{R} \to (C_0(\mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}) \otimes A) \rtimes_{\tau \otimes \alpha} \mathbb{R} \to A \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathbb{R} \to 0.$$

Here τ is the translation action of \mathbb{R} on $\mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ fixing the point at infinity. But

$$(C_0(\mathbb{R}) \otimes A) \rtimes_{\tau \otimes \alpha} \mathbb{R} \cong (C_0(\mathbb{R}) \otimes A) \rtimes_{\tau \otimes \text{trivial}} \cong A \otimes \mathcal{K}$$

by Takai duality again, so the connecting map in K-theory becomes a natural map ϕ^*_{α} satisfying the correct axioms. \Box

Now we're ready to apply this to the foliation index theorem. Suppose the foliation \mathcal{F} results from a locally free action of a simply connected evendimensional solvable Lie group G on the compact manifold M. Then

$$C^*(M, \mathcal{F}) \cong C(M) \rtimes G,$$

and iterated applications of Theorem 4.2.6 set up an isomorphism

$$K_0(C^*(M,\mathcal{F})) \cong K^0(M \times \mathbb{R}^{\dim G}) \cong K^0(M),$$

the last isomorphism given by Bott periodicity. Under these isomorphisms, one can check that the index class of the leafwise Dirac operator goes first to the exterior product of the class of the trivial line bundle on M with the Bott class in $K^0(\mathbb{R}^{\dim G})$, and thus under Bott periodicity to the class of the trivial vector bundle on M.

Example 4.2.7 Let G, π , and M be as in Example 4.2.5, and consider the 2-dimensional subgroup H of G, the image in G of

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{pmatrix} : a, \ b \in \mathbb{R}, \quad a > 0 \right\} \subset SL(2, \mathbb{R}).$$

Then H acts freely on G (say on the left) and hence locally freely on $V = G/\pi$, the unit sphere bundle of M. So we have a foliation of V by orbits of H. This foliation does not have an invariant transverse measure, since such a measure would correspond to a π -invariant measure of $H \setminus G \cong S^1$, which does not exist. However, the discussion above computes the index of the leafwise Dirac operator on (V, \mathcal{F}) and shows it is non-zero.

4.3 C^* -Algebras and \mathbb{Z}/k -Index Theory

Definition 4.3.1 A \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold is a smooth compact manifold with boundary, M^n , along with an identification of ∂M with a disjoint union of k copies of a fixed manifold βM^{n-1} . It is oriented if M is oriented, the boundary components have the induced orientation, and the identifications are orientation-preserving. See Figure 4.2 for an illustration.

40



Figure 4.2: A $\mathbb{Z}/3$ -manifold

One should really think of a \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold M as the singular space $M_{\Sigma} = M/\sim$ obtained by identifying all k of the boundary components with one another. This space is not a manifold (if k > 2), and does not satisfy Poincaré duality. The neighborhood of a point on βM is a cone on k copies of B^{n-1} joined along S^{n-2} , as illustrated in Figure 4.3. If M is an oriented $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -manifold, then M_{Σ}



Figure 4.3: Link of a boundary point in M_{Σ} (n = 2, k = 3)

is a manifold, but is not orientable, because of the way the two copies of βM have been glued together. (For instance, if M is a cylinder, so $\beta M = S^1$, then M_{Σ} is a Klein bottle.) So an oriented \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold of dimension 4n does not have a signature in the usual sense. But it does have a signature mod k, just as a non-orientable manifold has a signature for $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -cohomology. (Since +1 = -1 in $\mathbb{Z}/2$, the mod 2 "signature" of a non-orientable manifold is simply the middle Betti number.) The signature of a \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold was defined by Sullivan [92],

who showed that M_{Σ} has a fundamental class in homology mod k, and there is a \mathbb{Z}/k -version of Hirzebruch's formula,

sign
$$M = \langle \mathcal{L}(M), [M] \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}/k.$$

This formula is a special case of an index theorem for elliptic operators on \mathbb{Z}/k manifolds, due originally to Freed and Melrose [31], [32]. Other proofs were later given by Higson [38], Kaminker-Wojciechowski [45], and Zhang [97]. Higson's proof in particular made use of noncommutative C^* -algebras. The approach we will present here is due to the author [78]. For simplicity we'll deal with the "ordinary" (K_0) index of a complex elliptic operator D.

Definition 4.3.2 A \mathbb{Z}/k -elliptic operator on a \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold M^n , $\partial M \cong \beta M \times \mathbb{Z}/k$, will mean an elliptic operator on M (in the usual sense) whose restriction to a collar neighborhood of the boundary (diffeomorphic to $\beta M \times [0, \varepsilon) \times \mathbb{Z}/k$) is the restriction of an $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z}/k$ -invariant operator on $\beta M \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z}/k$. Thus, near the boundary, the operator is entirely determined by what happens on βM .

We want to define a \mathbb{Z}/k -valued index for such an operator by using the philosophy of noncommutative geometry, that says we should use a noncommutative C^* -algebra to encode the equivalence relation on M (that identifies the k copies of βM with one another), instead of working on the singular quotient space M_{Σ} . We begin by following a trick introduced in [38] to get rid of the complications involved with analysis near the boundary. First we attach cylinders to the boundary, replacing M by the noncompact manifold $N = M \cup_{\partial M} \partial M \times [0, \infty)$, as shown in Figure 4.4. It's important to note that an operator as in Definition 4.3.2 has a canonical extension to N, because of the translation invariance in the direction normal to the boundary.

Now we introduce the C^* -algebra $C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k)$ of the equivalence relation on N that is trivial on M itself and that identifies the k cylinders with one another. A simple calculation shows that

$$C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k) \cong \{ (f,g) : f \in C(M), \quad g \in C_0(\beta M \times [0,\infty), M_k), \\ g|_{\beta M \times \{0\}} \text{ diagonal}, \quad f|\partial M \text{ matching } g|_{\beta M \times \{0\}} \}.$$

Furthermore, just as an elliptic operator on an ordinary manifold defines a class in K-homology, a \mathbb{Z}/k -elliptic operator D on M, as extended canonically to N, defines a class in $K^0(C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k))$. (This group should be viewed as the \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold K-homology of M.)

Similarly we define a C^* -algebra $C^*(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k)$ which is almost the same, except that M and βM are both replaced by a point. In other words,

$$C^*(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k) = \{ f \in C_0([0, \infty), M_k) : f(0) \text{ a multiple of } I_k \}.$$

This is simply the mapping cone of the inclusion of the scalars into $M_k(\mathbb{C})$ as multiples of the $k \times k$ identity matrix, for which the induced map on K-theory is multiplication by k on \mathbb{Z} , so $K^0(C^*(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k)) \cong \mathbb{Z}/k$.



Figure 4.4: A $\mathbb{Z}/3$ -manifold with infinite cylinders attached

Now the collapse map $c: (M, \beta M) \to (\text{pt}, \text{pt})$ induces a map on C^* -algebras in the other direction, $C^*(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k) \hookrightarrow C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k)$, and hence a map of Khomology groups

$$c_*: K^0(C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k)) \to K^0(C^*(\mathrm{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k)) \cong \mathbb{Z}/k.$$

The image of [D] under this map is called the *analytic* \mathbb{Z}/k -index of D.

Definition 4.3.3 (the topological \mathbb{Z}/k -index) Let $[\sigma(D)] \in K^*(T^*M)$, the K-theory with compact supports of the cotangent bundle of M, be the class of the principal symbol of the operator. Note that $[\sigma(D)]$ is invariant under the identifications on the boundary, i.e., it comes by pullback from the quotient space T^*M_{Σ} (the image of T^*M with the k copies of $T^*M|_{\beta M}$ collapsed to one) under the collapse map $M \to M_{\Sigma}$. Following [31] we define the topological \mathbb{Z}/k -index Ind_tD of D as follows. Start by choosing an embedding $\iota: (M, \partial M) \hookrightarrow (D^{2r}, S^{2r-1})$ of M into a ball of sufficiently large even dimension 2r, for which ∂M embeds \mathbb{Z}/k -equivariantly into the boundary (if we identify S^{2r-1} with the

unit sphere in \mathbb{C}^r , \mathbb{Z}/k acting as usual by multiplication by roots of unity). We take the push-forward map on complex K-theory

$$\iota_! \colon K^0(T^*M) \to \widetilde{K}^0(T^*D^{2r}) \cong \widetilde{K}^0(D^{2r})$$

and observe that $\iota_!([\sigma(D)])$ descends to $\widetilde{K}^0(M_k^{2r}) \cong K^0(\mathrm{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k) \cong \mathbb{Z}/k, M_k^{2r}$ the Moore space obtained by dividing out by the \mathbb{Z}/k -action on the boundary of D^{2r} , and call the image the topological index of D, $\mathrm{Ind}_t(D)$.

Theorem 4.3.4 (\mathbb{Z}/k **-index theorem)** Let $(M, \phi: \partial M \xrightarrow{\cong} \beta M \times \mathbb{Z}/k)$ be a closed \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold, and let D be an elliptic operator on M in the sense of Definition 4.3.2. Then the analytic index of D in $K_i(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k)$ coincides with the topological index $\text{Ind}_t(D)$.

Sketch of Proof. The idea, based on the Kasparov-theoretic proof of the Atiyah-Singer Theorem ([5], Chapter IX, §24.5), is to write the class of D in $K^0(C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k))$ as a Kasparov product:

$$[D] = [\sigma(D)]\widehat{\otimes}_{C_0(T^*M_{\Sigma})}\widehat{\alpha} \in K^0(C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k)),$$

where

$$\widehat{\alpha} \in KK(C_0(T^*M_{\Sigma}) \otimes C^*(M; \mathbb{Z}/k), \mathbb{C})$$

is a canonical class constructed using the almost complex structure on T^*M and the Thom isomorphism, and we view $[\sigma(D)]$ as living in $K^0(T^*M_{\Sigma})$.

But now by associativity of the Kasparov product, we compute that

$$\operatorname{Ind}(D) = [c^*]\widehat{\otimes}_{C^*(M;\mathbb{Z}/k)}[D] = [\sigma(D)]\widehat{\otimes}_{C_0(T^*M_{\Sigma})}\Big([c^*]\widehat{\otimes}_{C^*(M;\mathbb{Z}/k)}\widehat{\alpha}\Big).$$

So we just need to identify the right-hand side of this equation with $\operatorname{Ind}_{t}(D)$. However, by Definition 4.3.3 $\operatorname{Ind}_{t}(D) = \hat{\iota}_{!}([\sigma(D)])$, where

$$\widehat{\iota}_{!} \colon K^{0}(T^{*}M_{\Sigma}) \to K^{0}(T^{*}D_{\Sigma}^{2r}) \cong K^{0}(M_{k}^{2r})$$

is the push-forward map on K-theory. And examination of the definition of $\hat{\iota}_{!}$ shows it is precisely the Kasparov product with

$$[c^*]\widehat{\otimes}_{C^*(M;\mathbb{Z}/k)}\widehat{\alpha},$$

followed by a "Poincaré duality" isomorphism $K^0(C^*(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k)) \xrightarrow{\cong} K_0(\text{pt}; \mathbb{Z}/k)$. \Box

4.4 Roe C*-Algebras and Coarse Geometry

Finally, we mention an application of C^* -algebras to the topology "at infinity" of noncompact spaces. Recall that we began Chapter 1 by talking about the

differences between spectral theory of the Laplacian on compact and on noncompact manifolds. The same points would have been equally valid for arbitrary elliptic operators.

Roe had the idea of introducing certain C^* -algebras attached to a noncompact manifold, but *depending on a choice of metric*, that can be used for doing index theory "at infinity."

Definition 4.4.1 ([72], [73]) Let M be a complete Riemannian manifold (usually noncompact). Fix a suitable Hilbert space \mathcal{H} (for example, $L^2(M, d \operatorname{vol})$) on which $C_0(M)$ acts non-degenerately, with no nonzero element of $C_0(M)$ acting by a compact operator. A bounded operator T on \mathcal{H} is called *locally compact* if $\varphi T, T\varphi \in \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{H})$ for $\varphi \in C_c(M)$, of finite propagation if for some R > 0 (depending on T), $\varphi T \psi = 0$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_c(M)$, dist(supp φ , supp ψ) > R. Let $C^*_{\operatorname{Roe}}(M)$ be the C^* -algebra generated by the locally compact, finite propagation, operators. One can show that this algebra is (up to isomorphism) independent of the choice of \mathcal{H} .

Example 4.4.2 If M is compact, the finite propagation condition is always trivially satisfied, and $C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M) = \mathcal{K}$, the compact operators. If $M = \mathbb{R}^n$ with the usual Euclidean metric, then $K_i(C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M)) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ for $i \equiv n \mod 2$, and $K_i(C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M)) = 0$ for $i \equiv n-1 \mod 2$. (See [73], p. 33 and p. 74.)

Definition 4.4.3 Let X and Y be proper metric spaces, that is, metric spaces in which closed bounded sets are compact. Then a map $f: X \to Y$ is called a *coarse map* if it is proper (the inverse image of a pre-compact set is pre-compact) and if it is *uniformly expansive*, i.e., for each R > 0, there exists S > 0 such that if $d_X(x, x') \leq R$, then $d_Y(f(x), f(x')) \leq S$. Note that this definition only involves the large-scale behavior of f; f need not be continuous, and we can always modify f any way we like on a compact set (as long as the image of that compact set remains bounded) without affecting this property. A *coarse* equivalence is a coarse map $f: X \to Y$ such that there exists a coarse map $g: Y \to X$ and there is a constant K > 0 with $d_X(x, g \circ f(x)) \leq K$ and with $d_Y(y, f \circ g(y)) \leq K$ for all $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$.

Example 4.4.4 The inclusion map $\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ (when \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{R} are equipped with their standard metrics) is a coarse equivalence, with coarse inverse the "rounding down" map $x \mapsto \lfloor x \rfloor$. More generally, if M is a connected compact manifold with fundamental group π , and if \widetilde{M} is the universal cover of M, then \widetilde{M} is coarsely equivalent to $|\pi|$, the group π viewed as a metric space with respect to a word-length metric (defined by a choice of a finite generating set). The coarse equivalence is again obtained by fixing a basepoint $x_0 \in \widetilde{M}$ and a fundamental domain F for the action of π on \widetilde{M} , and defining $f \colon |\pi| \to \widetilde{M}$ by $g \mapsto g \cdot x_0$, $g \colon \widetilde{M} \to |\pi|$ by $x \mapsto g$ whenever $x \in g \cdot F$. (The previous example is the special case where $M = S^1$, $\widetilde{M} = \mathbb{R}$, $\pi = \mathbb{Z}$, $x_0 = 0$, and F = [0, 1).)

Proposition 4.4.5 (Roe [73], Lemma 3.5) A coarse equivalence $X \to Y$ induces an isomorphism $C^*_{\text{Roe}}(X) \to C^*_{\text{Roe}}(Y)$.

Theorem 4.4.6 (Roe) If M is a complete Riemannian manifold, there is a functorial "assembly map" \mathcal{A} : $K_*(M) \to K_*(C^*_{Roe}(M))$. If D is a geometric elliptic operator on M (say the Dirac operator or the signature operator), it has a class in $K_0(M)$, and $\mathcal{A}([D])$ is its "coarse index." For noncompact spin manifolds, vanishing of $\mathcal{A}([D])$ (for the Dirac operator) is a necessary condition for there being a metric of uniformly positive scalar curvature in the quasi-isometry class of the original metric on M.

There is a Coarse Baum-Connes Conjecture analogous to the usual Baum-Connes Conjecture, that the assembly map $\mathcal{A}: K_*(M) \to K_*(C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M))$ is an isomorphism for M uniformly contractible. (The uniform contractibility assures that M has no "local topology;" without this, we certainly wouldn't expect an isomorphism, since $K_*(C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M))$ only depends on the coarse equivalence class of M.)

Unfortunately, the Coarse Baum-Connes Conjecture is now known to fail in some cases. For one thing, it is known to fair for some uniformly contractible manifolds without bounded geometry [20]. That suggests that perhaps one should change the domain of the assembly map from $K_*(M)$ to its "coarsification" $KX_*(M)$ ([73], pp. 14-15), the inductive limit of the $K_*(|\mathcal{U}|)$, the nerves of coverings \mathcal{U} of X by pre-compact open sets, as the coverings become coarser and coarser. As one would hope, it turns out that $\mathcal{A}: K_*(M) \to K_*(C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M))$ factors through $KX_*(M)$, and that $K_*(M) \to KX_*(M)$ is an isomorphism when M is uniformly contractible and of bounded geometry. However, there is also an example of a manifold M of bounded geometry for which $KX_*(M) \to$ $K_*(C^*_{\text{Roe}}(M))$ is not an isomorphism [95]. But it is still conceivable (though it seems increasingly unlikely) that the Coarse Baum-Connes Conjecture holds for all uniformly contractible manifolds with bounded geometry, or at least for all universal covers of compact manifolds.

The main interest of the Coarse Baum-Connes Conjecture, aside from its aesthetic appeal as a parallel to the usual Baum-Connes Conjecture, is its connection with the usual Novikov Conjecture (Conjecture 3.3.1). One has:

Theorem 4.4.7 (Principle of descent) The Coarse Baum-Connes Conjecture for $C^*_{\text{Roe}}(|\pi|)$, π a group, but viewed as a discrete metric space, implies the Novikov Conjecture for π .

A sketch of proof can be found in [73], Chapter 8. Theorem 4.4.7 has been applied in [96] to prove the Novikov Conjecture for any group π for which $|\pi|$ admits a uniform embedding into a Hilbert space. This covers both amenable groups and hyperbolic groups.

4.5 Exercises

Exercise 4.5.1 Consider the teardrop X shown in Figure 4.1, obtained by gluing together D^2/μ_n and D^2 . (Here D^2 is the closed unit disk in \mathbb{C} , and μ_n is the cyclic group of *n*-th roots of unity, that acts on D^2 by rotations.) Compute

4.5. Exercises

the topology of the (oriented) orthonormal frame bundle P of X, which should be a closed 3-manifold, and describe the locally free action of $S^1 \cong SO(2)$ on Pwith $P/S^1 \cong X$. Show that $C^*_{orb}(X)$ is Morita equivalent to

$$A = \{ f \in C(S^2, M_n(\mathbb{C})) : f(x_0) \text{ is diagonal} \},\$$

where x_0 is a distinguished point on S^2 , which fits into a short exact sequence

$$0 \to C_0(\mathbb{R}^2, M_n(\mathbb{C})) \to A \to \mathbb{C}^n \to 0.$$

Deduce that $K_0(C^*_{\text{orb}}(X))$ is free abelian of rank n+1, and that $K_1(C^*_{\text{orb}}(X)) = 0$. From this is follows by duality that $K^0(C^*_{\text{orb}}(X))$ is free abelian of rank n+1. Compute the class in $K^0(C^*_{\text{orb}}(X)) = K_0^{\text{orb}}(X)$ of the Euler characteristic operator D, and also its index Ind D in $K_0(\text{pt}) = \mathbb{Z}$.

Exercise 4.5.2 Suppose a foliation \mathcal{F} results from a locally free action of a simply connected even-dimensional solvable Lie group G on a compact manifold M. Show that the index of the leafwise Euler characteristic operator is 0 in $C^*(M, \mathcal{F})$, both by an application of Corollary 4.2.4 and by a calculation using the Thom Isomorphism Theorem (Theorem 4.2.6), as was done above with the Dirac operator.

Exercise 4.5.3 Let M be a compact oriented surface of genus g and with k > 1 boundary components (all necessarily circles), as in Figure 4.2, which shows the case g = 1 and k = 3. Regard M as a \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold. Compute the \mathbb{Z}/k -index of the Euler characteristic operator on M.

Exercise 4.5.4 Construct complete Riemannian metrics g on \mathbb{R}^2 for which $K_*(C^*_{orb}(X)), X = (\mathbb{R}^2, g)$ is not isomorphic to $K_*(\text{pt})$, and give an example of an application to index theory on X. (Hint: The Coarse Baum-Connes Conjecture is valid for the open cone on a compact metrizable space Y. If Y is embedded in the unit sphere S^{n-1} in \mathbb{R}^n , the *open cone* on Y is by definition the union of the rays in \mathbb{R}^n starting at the origin and passing through Y, equipped with the restriction of the Euclidean metric on \mathbb{R}^n .)

Bibliography

- Michael Atiyah, Elliptic operators, discrete groups and von Neumann algebras, Colloque "Analyse et Topologie" en l'Honneur de Henri Cartan (Orsay, 1974), Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1976, pp. 43–72. Astérisque, No. 32–33. MR 54 #8741
- Michael Atiyah and Wilfried Schmid, A geometric construction of the discrete series for semisimple Lie groups, Invent. Math. 42 (1977), 1–62. MR 57 #3310
- [3] _____, Erratum: "A geometric construction of the discrete series for semisimple Lie groups" [Invent. Math. 42 (1977), 1-62; MR 57 #3310], Invent. Math. 54 (1979), no. 2, 189–192. MR 81d:22015
- [4] Paul Baum and Alain Connes, Geometric K-theory for Lie groups and foliations, Enseign. Math. (2) 46 (2000), no. 1-2, 3–42. MR 2001i:19006
- [5] Bruce Blackadar, K-theory for operator algebras, second ed., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. MR 99g:46104
- [6] Robert Brooks, The fundamental group and the spectrum of the Laplacian, Comment. Math. Helv. 56 (1981), no. 4, 581–598. MR 84j:58131
- [7] _____, Amenability and the spectrum of the Laplacian, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 6 (1982), no. 1, 87–89. MR 83f:58076
- [8] Lawrence G. Brown, Philip Green, and Marc A. Rieffel, Stable isomorphism and strong Morita equivalence of C^{*}-algebras, Pacific J. Math. **71** (1977), no. 2, 349–363. MR 57 #3866
- [9] Marc Burger and Alain Valette, Idempotents in complex group rings: theorems of Zalesskii and Bass revisited, J. Lie Theory 8 (1998), no. 2, 219–228. MR 99j:16016
- [10] Alberto Candel, Uniformization of surface laminations, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 26 (1993), no. 4, 489–516. MR 94f:57025
- [11] Alberto Candel and Lawrence Conlon, *Foliations. I*, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000. MR 2002f:57058

- [12] Jianguo Cao and Frederico Xavier, Kähler parabolicity and the Euler number of compact manifolds of non-positive sectional curvature, Math. Ann. **319** (2001), no. 3, 483–491. MR 2001m:53060
- [13] Jeff Cheeger and Mikhael Gromov, L₂-cohomology and group cohomology, Topology 25 (1986), no. 2, 189–215. MR 87i:58161
- [14] Alain Connes, Sur la théorie non commutative de l'intégration, Algèbres d'opérateurs (Sém., Les Plans-sur-Bex, 1978), Springer, Berlin, 1979, pp. 19–143. MR 81g:46090
- [15] _____, An analogue of the Thom isomorphism for crossed products of a C^{*}-algebra by an action of ℝ, Adv. in Math. **39** (1981), no. 1, 31–55. MR 82j:46084
- [16] _____, Feuilletages et algèbres d'opérateurs, Bourbaki Seminar, Vol. 1979/80, Springer, Berlin, 1981, pp. 139–155. MR 83c:58077
- [17] _____, A survey of foliations and operator algebras, Operator algebras and applications, Part I (Kingston, Ont., 1980), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1982, pp. 521–628. MR 84m:58140
- [18] _____, Noncommutative geometry, Academic Press Inc., San Diego, CA, 1994. MR 95j:46063
- [19] Alain Connes and Georges Skandalis, The longitudinal index theorem for foliations, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 20 (1984), no. 6, 1139–1183. MR 87h:58209
- [20] A. N. Dranishnikov, Dimension theory and large Riemannian manifolds, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. II (Berlin, 1998), no. Extra Vol. II, 1998, pp. 423–432 (electronic). MR 99i:57055
- Beno Eckmann, Introduction to l₂-methods in topology: reduced l₂-homology, harmonic chains, l₂-Betti numbers, Israel J. Math. 117 (2000), 183– 219, Notes prepared by Guido Mislin. MR 2001b:57054
- [22] Thierry Fack and Georges Skandalis, Connes' analogue of the Thom isomorphism for the Kasparov groups, Invent. Math. 64 (1981), no. 1, 7–14. MR 82g:46113
- [23] Michael Farber, Homological algebra of Novikov-Shubin invariants and Morse inequalities, Geom. Funct. Anal. 6 (1996), no. 4, 628–665. MR 97m:58034
- [24] _____, Geometry of growth: approximation theorems for L^2 invariants, Math. Ann. **311** (1998), no. 2, 335–375. MR 2000b:58042
- [25] _____, von Neumann categories and extended L^2 -cohomology, K-Theory 15 (1998), no. 4, 347–405. MR 2000b:58041

Bibliography

- [26] _____, von Neumann Betti numbers and Novikov type inequalities, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 128 (2000), no. 9, 2819–2827. MR 2000m:58038
- [27] Carla Farsi, K-theoretical index theorems for good orbifolds, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 115 (1992), no. 3, 769–773. MR 92j:58102
- [28] _____, K-theoretical index theorems for orbifolds, Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 43 (1992), no. 170, 183–200. MR 93f:58231
- [29] _____, A note on K-theoretical index theorems for orbifolds, Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 437 (1992), no. 1900, 429–431. MR 93g:58136
- [30] Steven C. Ferry, Andrew Ranicki, and Jonathan Rosenberg, A history and survey of the Novikov conjecture, Novikov conjectures, index theorems and rigidity, Vol. 1 (Oberwolfach, 1993), Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995, pp. 7–66. MR 97f:57036
- [31] Daniel S. Freed, Z/k-manifolds and families of Dirac operators, Invent. Math. 92 (1988), no. 2, 243–254. MR 89f:58127
- [32] Daniel S. Freed and Richard B. Melrose, A mod k index theorem, Invent. Math. 107 (1992), no. 2, 283–299. MR 93c:58212
- [33] Etienne Ghys, Sur l'uniformisation des laminations paraboliques, Integrable systems and foliations/Feuilletages et systèmes intégrables (Montpellier, 1995), Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1997, pp. 73–91. MR 98e:57040
- [34] Frederick P. Greenleaf, Invariant means on topological groups and their applications, Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York, 1969. MR 40 #4776
- [35] Mikhael Gromov and H. Blaine Lawson, Jr., The classification of simply connected manifolds of positive scalar curvature, Ann. of Math. (2) 111 (1980), no. 3, 423–434. MR 81h:53036
- [36] _____, Spin and scalar curvature in the presence of a fundamental group. I, Ann. of Math. (2) **111** (1980), no. 2, 209–230. MR 81g:53022
- [37] _____, Positive scalar curvature and the Dirac operator on complete Riemannian manifolds, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1983), no. 58, 83–196 (1984). MR 85g:58082
- [38] Nigel Higson, An approach to Z/k-index theory, Internat. J. Math. 1 (1990), no. 2, 189–210. MR 91h:58109
- [39] Nigel Higson and Gennadi Kasparov, E-theory and KK-theory for groups which act properly and isometrically on Hilbert space, Invent. Math. 144 (2001), no. 1, 23–74. MR 2002k:19005
- [40] Nigel Higson and John Roe, Analytic K-homology, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2000, Oxford Science Publications. MR 2002c:58036

- [41] Friedrich Hirzebruch, Topological methods in algebraic geometry, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995, Translated from the German and Appendix One by R. L. E. Schwarzenberger, With a preface to the third English edition by the author and Schwarzenberger, Appendix Two by A. Borel, Reprint of the 1978 edition. MR 96c:57002
- [42] Jürgen Jost and Kang Zuo, Vanishing theorems for L²-cohomology on infinite coverings of compact Kähler manifolds and applications in algebraic geometry, Comm. Anal. Geom. 8 (2000), no. 1, 1–30. MR 2001f:32033
- [43] Dominic D. Joyce, Compact manifolds with special holonomy, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2000. MR 2001k:53093
- [44] Pierre Julg, K-théorie équivariante et produits croisés, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 292 (1981), no. 13, 629–632. MR 83b:46090
- [45] J. Kaminker and K. P. Wojciechowski, Index theory of Z/k manifolds and the Grassmannian, Operator algebras and topology (Craiova, 1989), Longman Sci. Tech., Harlow, 1992, pp. 82–92. MR 93j:58127. Note: The published version of the paper is missing two pages. They are available from the authors at www.math.iupui.edu.
- [46] Jerome Kaminker and John G. Miller, Homotopy invariance of the analytic index of signature operators over C*-algebras, J. Operator Theory 14 (1985), no. 1, 113–127. MR 87b:58082
- [47] Max Karoubi, K-theory, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1978, An introduction, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 226. MR 58 #7605
- [48] Gennadi Kasparov, Equivariant KK-theory and the Novikov conjecture, Invent. Math. 91 (1988), no. 1, 147–201. MR 88j:58123
- [49] _____, K-theory, group C*-algebras, and higher signatures (conspectus), Novikov conjectures, index theorems and rigidity, Vol. 1 (Oberwolfach, 1993), Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995, pp. 101–146. MR 97j:58153
- [50] Gennadi Kasparov and Georges Skandalis, Groupes "boliques" et conjecture de Novikov, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. **319** (1994), no. 8, 815–820. MR 96a:19005
- [51] Tetsuro Kawasaki, The index of elliptic operators over V-manifolds, Nagoya Math. J. 84 (1981), 135–157. MR 83i:58095
- [52] Harry Kesten, Full Banach mean values on countable groups, Math. Scand.
 7 (1959), 146–156. MR 22 #2911
- [53] Serge Lang, $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$, Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass.-London-Amsterdam, 1975, republished by Springer-Verlag, 1985. MR 55 #3170

52

- [54] H. Blaine Lawson, Jr. and Marie-Louise Michelsohn, Spin geometry, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989. MR 91g:53001
- [55] André Lichnerowicz, Spineurs harmoniques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 257 (1963), 7–9. MR 27 #6218
- [56] Wolfgang Lück, Hilbert modules and modules over finite von Neumann algebras and applications to L²-invariants, Math. Ann. **309** (1997), no. 2, 247–285. MR 99d:58169
- [57] _____, Dimension theory of arbitrary modules over finite von Neumann algebras and L²-Betti numbers. I. Foundations, J. Reine Angew. Math. 495 (1998), 135–162. MR 99k:58176
- [58] _____, L²-invariants of regular coverings of compact manifolds and CWcomplexes, Handbook of geometric topology, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002, pp. 735–817. MR 2003a:58049
- [59] _____, L²-invariants: theory and applications to geometry and K-theory, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], vol. 44, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002. MR 2003m:58033
- [60] _____, The relation between the Baum-Connes conjecture and the trace conjecture, Invent. Math. 149 (2002), no. 1, 123–152. MR 2003f:19005
- [61] Alexander S. Mishchenko, Controlled Fredholm representations, Novikov conjectures, index theorems and rigidity, Vol. 1 (Oberwolfach, 1993), Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995, pp. 174–200. MR 97d:58188
- [62] Alexander S. Mishchenko and A. T. Fomenko, *The index of elliptic opera*tors over C^{*}-algebras, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. **43** (1979), no. 4, 831–859, 967 (Russian), English translation: Math. USSR-Izv. **15** (1980), no. 1, 87–112. MR 81i:46075
- [63] Alexander S. Mishchenko and Ju. P. Solov'ev, Representations of Banach algebras and formulas of Hirzebruch type, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 111(153) (1980), no. 2, 209–226, 319 (Russian), English translation: Math. USSR-Sb. 39 (1980), no. 2, 189–205. MR 82f:46059
- [64] Calvin C. Moore and Claude Schochet, Global analysis on foliated spaces, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1988, With appendices by S. Hurder, Moore, Schochet and Robert J. Zimmer. MR 89h:58184
- [65] S. P. Novikov and M. A. Shubin, Morse theory and von Neumann invariants of non-simply connected manifolds, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 41 (1986), no. 5, 222 (Russian).

- [66] Judith Packer, Transformation group C*-algebras: a selective survey, C*algebras: 1943–1993 (San Antonio, TX, 1993), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994, pp. 182–217. MR 95j:22012
- [67] Alan L. T. Paterson, Amenability, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1988. MR 90e:43001
- [68] Gert K. Pedersen, Dynamical systems and crossed products, Operator algebras and applications, Part I (Kingston, Ont., 1980), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1982, pp. 271–283. MR 84a:46151
- [69] Marc A. Rieffel, Applications of strong Morita equivalence to transformation group C^{*}-algebras, Operator algebras and applications, Part I (Kingston, Ont., 1980), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1982, pp. 299– 310. MR 84k:46046
- [70] _____, Connes' analogue for crossed products of the Thom isomorphism, Operator algebras and K-theory (San Francisco, Calif., 1981), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1982, pp. 143–154. MR 83g:46062
- [71] _____, Morita equivalence for operator algebras, Operator algebras and applications, Part I (Kingston, Ont., 1980), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1982, pp. 285–298. MR 84k:46045
- [72] John Roe, Coarse cohomology and index theory on complete Riemannian manifolds, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 104 (1993), no. 497, x+90. MR 94a:58193
- [73] _____, Index theory, coarse geometry, and topology of manifolds, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1996, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Math., no. 90. MR 97h:58155
- [74] _____, Elliptic operators, topology and asymptotic methods, second ed., Longman, Harlow, 1998. MR 99m:58182
- [75] Jonathan Rosenberg, C*-algebras, positive scalar curvature, and the Novikov conjecture, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1983), no. 58, 197–212 (1984). MR 85g:58083
- [76] _____, C^{*}-algebras, positive scalar curvature, and the Novikov conjecture. III, Topology **25** (1986), no. 3, 319–336. MR 88f:58141
- [77] _____, The KO-assembly map and positive scalar curvature, Algebraic topology Poznań 1989, Springer, Berlin, 1991, pp. 170–182. MR 92m:53060
- [78] _____, Groupoid C*-algebras and index theory on manifolds with singularities, Geom. Dedicata **100** (2003), 65–84. MR 2 011 114
- [79] Jonathan Rosenberg and Stephan Stolz, A "stable" version of the Gromov-Lawson conjecture, The Čech centennial (Boston, MA, 1993), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995, pp. 405–418. MR 96m:53042

Bibliography

- [80] _____, Metrics of positive scalar curvature and connections with surgery, Surveys on surgery theory, Vol. 2, Ann. of Math. Stud., vol. 149, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2001, pp. 353–386. MR 2002f:53054
- [81] Shmuel Rosset, A vanishing theorem for Euler characteristics, Math. Z. 185 (1984), no. 2, 211–215. MR 85i:55002
- [82] Ranja Roy, The trace conjecture—a counterexample, K-Theory 17 (1999), no. 3, 209–213. MR 2000h:19004
- [83] _____, A counterexample to questions on the integrality property of virtual signature, Topology Appl. 100 (2000), no. 2-3, 177–185. MR 2000j:57073
- [84] David Ruelle and Dennis Sullivan, Currents, flows and diffeomorphisms, Topology 14 (1975), no. 4, 319–327. MR 54 #3759
- [85] Michel Rumin, Differential geometry on C-C spaces and application to the Novikov-Shubin numbers of nilpotent Lie groups, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 329 (1999), no. 11, 985–990. MR 2001g:53063
- [86] James A. Schafer, The evolution of Gottlieb's Theorem and a problem of Whitehead, Tech. Report 28, Aarhus Universitet Matematisk Institut, 1993.
- [87] Richard Schoen and Shing-Tung Yau, Existence of incompressible minimal surfaces and the topology of three-dimensional manifolds with nonnegative scalar curvature, Ann. of Math. (2) 110 (1979), no. 1, 127–142. MR 81k:58029
- [88] _____, On the structure of manifolds with positive scalar curvature, Manuscripta Math. 28 (1979), no. 1-3, 159–183. MR 80k:53064
- [89] _____, The structure of manifolds with positive scalar curvature, Directions in partial differential equations (Madison, WI, 1985), Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1987, pp. 235–242. MR 90e:53059
- [90] Mikhail Shubin, De Rham theorem for extended L²-cohomology, Voronezh Winter Mathematical Schools, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1998, pp. 217–231. MR 2001c:58025
- [91] Stephan Stolz, Simply connected manifolds of positive scalar curvature, Ann. of Math. (2) 136 (1992), no. 3, 511–540. MR 93i:57033
- [92] Dennis Sullivan, Triangulating and smoothing homotopy equivalences and homeomorphisms: geometric topology seminar notes, The Hauptvermutung book, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1996, pp. 69–103. MR 98c:57027
- [93] Hiroshi Takai, Duality for C*-crossed products and its applications, Operator algebras and applications, Part 1 (Kingston, Ont., 1980), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1982, pp. 369–373. MR 83m:46098

- [94] Alain Valette, The conjecture of idempotents: a survey of the C*-algebraic approach, Bull. Soc. Math. Belg. Sér. A 41 (1989), no. 3, 485–521. MR 91g:16017
- [95] Guoliang Yu, The Novikov conjecture for groups with finite asymptotic dimension, Ann. of Math. (2) 147 (1998), no. 2, 325–355. MR 99k:57072
- [96] _____, The coarse Baum-Connes conjecture for spaces which admit a uniform embedding into Hilbert space, Invent. Math. 139 (2000), no. 1, 201– 240. MR 2000j:19005
- [97] Weiping Zhang, On the mod k index theorem of Freed and Melrose, J. Differential Geom. 43 (1996), no. 1, 198–206. MR 97k:58157

Index

A-elliptic operator, 26 A-Fredholm operator, 26, 32 A-vector bundle, 25 abelian category, 6 additive category, 6 amenable group, 10, 46 assembly map, 27, 29, 32-33, 46 Atiyah Conjecture, 12 Atiyah-Singer Theorem, 21, 38, 44 Baum-Connes Conjecture, 28, 29, 31-33 Coarse, 46, 47 Brooks' Theorem, 11, 12 category abelian, 6 additive, 6 Cheeger-Gromov Theorem, 10 Chern character, 29 Chern-Weil theory, 22 classifying space, 27 coarse equivalence, 45 coarse map, 45 cocycle trick, 39 Connes' Foliation Index Theorem, 21, 24 Connes' Thom Isomorphism Theorem, 38-40 **Connes-Skandalis Foliation Index** Theorem, 37 continuous dimension, 5 crossed product, 32, 35 $\overline{\partial}$ operator, 23 de Rham theorem, 9

for L^2 cohomology, 9

descent, 46 dimension continuous. 5 Dirac operator, 46 elliptic operator, 7, 15-16, 42, 45 Euler characteristic, 11, 12 Euler characteristic operator, 17, 21, 38.47 Euler-Poincaré principle, 11, 12 Farber, M., 6 finite propagation, 45 flat connection, 27 foliation, 18-21, 24, 37 foliation C^* -algebra, 37 foliation von Neumann algebra, 20 Gromov-Lawson Conjecture, 30-31 group amenable, 10, 28, 46 free, 12 hyperbolic, 28, 46 group C^* -algebra, reduced, 27 group von Neumann algebra, 6 Hahn-Banach Theorem, 22 harmonic measure, 22 heat equation, 16–17 Hirzebruch proportionality principle, 18 Hirzebruch signature formula, 29, 42 Hodge *-operator, 17 Hodge number, 23 holonomy, 19 holonomy groupoid, 20, 37 Hulanciki's Theorem, 13

ICC group, 6 index families, 34, 38 Mishchenko-Fomenko, 26, 30, 34, 38 of elliptic operator, 7 of tangentially elliptic operator, 20induced representation, 10 Kähler manifold, 11, 15, 23 Kaplansky-Kadison Conjecture, 29 Kasparov product, 27 Klein bottle, 41 L^2 -Betti numbers, 8, 10, 21–22 L^2 -homology and cohomology, 8 extended, 8 reduced, 8 L^2 -index theorem, 11, 15, 23, 28 lamination, 22 Laplacian, 12, 22, 45 spectrum of, 5–6 Lefschetz fixed-point theorem, 36 locally free group action, 36 lowest weight vector, 24

58

measure transverse, 19, 24, 37, 38, 40
Mishchenko-Fomenko index, 26, 30, 34, 38
Morita equivalence, 35–37, 47
Novikov Conjecture, 28, 46 strong, 28
Novikov-Shubin capacity, 7
Novikov-Shubin invariant, 8 of a space, 8–12
object projective, 6
open cone, 47
orbifold, 36–37

Poincaré-Hopf Theorem, 38

orbifold C^* -algebra, 37, 47 orthonormal frame bundle, 29, 37

projective object, 6 proper metric space, 45 pseudodifferential operator elliptic, 15–16 Real space, 25 reduced group C^* -algebra, 27 representation induced, 10 reproducing kernel, 24 Riemann surface, 10, 22, 23, 38 Riemann-Roch Theorem, 23 Roe algebra, 45 Ruelle-Sullivan current, 19 Schur orthogonality relations, 32 signature, 17–18, 29, 41–42 higher, 29 signature operator, 18, 29, 46 smoothing operator, 16–17 spin structure, 29 Swan's Theorem, 25–26, 34 Takai duality, 39 tangentially elliptic operator, 20 teardrop, 36, 46 Todd genus, 23 Toeplitz extension, 40 transformation group C^* -algebra, 35 transverse measure, 19, 24, 37, 38, 40 Zero Divisor Conjecture, 12

Zero Divisor Conjecture, 12 \mathbb{Z}/k -index, 43–44, 47 \mathbb{Z}/k -manifold, 40 C^* -algebra of, 42 Index